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Introduction:
Continued success in changing times
Two of our Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences students
attended Parliament in March for an event at which the UK’s best
undergraduate research was presented. They were supported in
doing so by the PESE Get Published project.
In the past year, we are proud to have had our record year for bringing
in research contracts and levels of intellectual property income. As
part of Oxford Brookes’ commitment to supporting research-active
academics, the University introduced its Research Excellence Awards
in 2016/17 with 23 recipients. We are investing in researchers aiming
at being submitted to the next Research Excellence Framework
with world-leading 4* outputs or impact case studies. Through this
support our research community has established wider networks of
collaboration and this is increasingly on a global scale.
In 2017 we were proud to congratulate our Chancellor on becoming
Dame Katherine Grainger at a special investiture ceremony at
Buckingham Palace. In addition to taking on the high profile role of
Chair of UK Sport in the last year, our Chancellor continues to inspire
the University’s students, staff and wider community.
At a time of significant uncertainty, both within the higher
education sector and the world more widely, Oxford Brookes
University has continued to achieve great things across each of its
strategic objectives.
While the negotiations around the UK leaving the European Union
only formally began towards the end of 2016/17, Brexit is already
having a significant impact on universities as we are, by our
nature, international institutions.
Our revised International Strategy therefore continues to be very
important to the institution and I am proud that Oxford Brookes
maintains a genuinely global outlook. In July 2017 we were named
as one of the world’s top 50 universities under 50 years old by
the QS World University Rankings 2018 – and were the only UK
university to make the list.
Two further examples are our global MBA retaining its top ten global
ranking while the Oxford School of Hospitality Management was
ranked in the top three hospitality schools in the world.
We know that there continue to be questions around how
universities will be able to maintain their global influence in the
future. I was therefore pleased to be able to make the case for
international staff, students and collaboration on behalf of Oxford
Brookes and the sector at an Education Select Committee in
January 2017 and will continue to do so.
The introduction of the Higher Education and Research Act by the
UK government in April was the most significant piece of legislation
for the sector in decades. Oxford Brookes is well placed to meet the
proposed changes which included the continued implementation of
the Teaching Excellence Framework (TEF).
Year Two of the TEF stated that the University delivers “high
quality teaching, learning and outcomes for its students” and
“consistently exceeds rigorous national quality requirements for
UK higher education.”
We are committed to being at the leading edge in this area which
is why we are always looking to further improve, as exemplified by
the eight innovative projects that form part of our Programme to
Enhance the Student Experience (PESE).

Our local community continues to be important to what we do
and who we are as a University. We were proud to welcome the
critically acclaimed director Ken Loach to the Oxford Human Rights
Festival in March. Organised by our Faculty of Technology, Design
and Environment students, the festival is now firmly established in
entertaining, educating and engaging the community on important
issues of the day.
The Oxford Brookes Social Entrepreneurs Awards winners continue
to improve society in Oxford and around the world and again
highlight the generosity of spirit embodied by our staff, students
and partnership work. Our commitment to ensuring that education
is available to all was demonstrated when the Study Higher
partnership, for which we are the lead university, was granted £3.4
million to encourage disadvantaged people into higher education.
We were proud to launch the Oxford School of Nursing and
Midwifery this year, in collaboration with the city’s two NHS trusts.
The school will uniquely combine education, clinical practice and
research across the nursing, midwifery and allied health professions.
Our health care provision in Swindon continues to prosper with the
move to a new, improved campus. At the official opening ceremony
in February 2017, we were delighted to name the building after
Baron Joel Joffe who sadly passed away in June. The Joel Joffe
Building will therefore continue to honour the life of an inspirational
individual who did so much for health care and human rights.
Redevelopment has continued on the Clerici building and now
sees the Oxford Brookes Business School located together in
Headington and improves cross-faculty collaboration. Work
continues on our Sinclair building too to deliver cutting-edge lab
spaces for our teaching and research provision.
We also announced exciting future development plans for the
Harcourt Hill Campus. Our Faculty of Humanities and Social
Sciences will be based at Harcourt Hill as we establish a vibrant and
collaborative on-campus experience.
Engagement and planning for these important developments
are progressing rapidly and are a further signal of the University’s
strong position and bright future.
PROFESSOR ALISTAIR FITT
VICE-CHANCELLOR
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Financial highlights
During the year to 31 July
2017 (2016 figures) the
University group*:
n

n

n

At the balance sheet date
the University group had:

achieved all financial
targets and key
performance indicators

n

generated an operating
surplus of £5.7m
(£12.5m)

n

generated income of
£198.1m (£192.6m)  
n

n

n

Financial strength

increased income by
£5.5m or 2.9%

n

n

cash and short-term
deposits of £39.9m
(£52.6m)

Investments
and borrowings
During the year the
University group:
n

invested £42.0m in fixed
assets (£20.4m).

net current assets of
£14.9m (£29.7m)
total net assets of
£139.5m (£135.8m)
pension scheme deficits
of £134.3m (£125.3m).

increased expenditure
by £12.3m or 6.8%

generated a net inflow
of cash from operating
activities of £32.7m
(£33.7m).

*These financial statements represent the University Group, which consists of Oxford Brookes
University and Oxford Brookes Enterprises Limited.
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Committee members
Board of Governors (Trustees)
The membership of the Board of Governors, who are also Trustees, up to the date of signing the financial statements,
were as follows:
Independent Members
Alyson Coates (until 31/07/17)

Non-Executive Director, Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust

John Guy (until 31/07/17)

Non-Executive Chairman, Surrey Heath Clinical Commissioning Group

Martin Howell

Chairman, Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust

Robert Kirtland

Chairman, Critchleys Chartered Accountants, Oxford

Leslie Morphy (Chair)

Non-Executive Director, Home Group, Non-Executive Director, Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, various other trustee positions

Jane Roscoe (until 31/07/17)

Director, London Film School

Katherine Ryan

Headteacher, Matthew Arnold School, Oxford

Louise Thomas (until 31/07/17)

Director, Thomas Design Regeneration & Consultation

Philip Shadbolt (until 31/07/17)

Chairman, Zeta Automotive Ltd and Managing Director, Zeta Specialist Lighting

Susan Howdle (until 31/07/17)
Susan Howdle (from 01/08/17)

Chair, Westminster College Oxford Trust Ltd (nominated by Westminster College
Oxford Trust Ltd)
Chair, Westminster College Oxford Trust Ltd

Simon Jones (from 01/08/17)

Director, United Nations International Computing Centre

Paul O’Connor (from 01/08/17)

Director, Healthcare Leadership Solutions Ltd

Yasmin Sidhwa (from 01/08/17)

Artistic Director, Mandala Theatre Company

Lucy Weston (from 01/08/17)

Non-Executive Director, Soha Housing, Associate Non-Executive Director, Oxford
Health NHS Foundation Trust
Non-Executive Director, Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust, Chairman of Trustees of
Uniac Pension Fund (for Unilever)

Lyn Williams (from 01/08/17)
Student and Staff Governors
Elena Saldaña Quintans (until 30/06/17)

President of the Students’ Union, Oxford Brookes University

Diko Blackings (from 01/07/17)

President of the Students’ Union, Oxford Brookes University

Ricardo Assis Rosa
(Teaching staff Governor)

Senior Lecturer in Architecture: Design, Oxford Brookes University

Marketing Manager, Specialist Lecturer, Oxford Brookes University
Rhiannon Lassiter
(Non-teaching staff Governor, until 01/05/17)
Drew Hardie
Space Planning Manager, Oxford Brookes University
(Non-teaching staff Governor, from 01/08/17)
Co-opted Committee Members
Lyn Williams (until 31/07/17)

Non-Executive Director, Oxford & Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust

Lucy Weston (until 31/07/17)
Jeremy Dawson

Non-Executive Director, Soha Housing, Associate Non-Executive Director, Oxford
Health NHS Foundation Trust
Partner, Dawson Partnerships

Sanjay Mistry (from 01/08/16)

Interim Communications Director, Europe, McDonalds

Ex-Officio Member
Professor Alistair Fitt

Vice-Chancellor, Oxford Brookes University

Finance and Resources Committee
Alyson Coates (until 31/07/2017)

Governor

Simon Jones (from 01/08/17)

Governor

Robert Kirtland (Chair)

Governor

Sanjay Mistry (from 01/08/16)

Co-optee

Leslie Morphy

Governor

Jane Roscoe (until 31/07/17)

Governor

Louise Thomas (until 31/07/17)

Governor

Lucy Weston (from 01/08/17)

Governor
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Audit Committee
Jeremy Dawson

Co-optee

John Guy (until 31/07/17)

Governor

Martin Howell (Deputy Chair)

Governor

Paul O’Connor (from 01/08/17)

Governor

Katherine Ryan (Chair)

Governor

Philip Shadbolt (until 31/07/17)

Governor

Lucy Weston (until 31/07/17)

Co-optee

Lyn Williams (until 31/07/17)

Co-optee

Lyn Williams (from 01/08/17)

Governor

Remuneration Committee
Alyson Coates (until 31/07/17)

Governor

John Guy (until 31/07/17)

Governor

Susan Howdle (Chair until 24/04/17)

Governor

Martin Howell (Chair from 25/04/17)

Governor

Simon Jones (from 01/08/17)

Governor

Leslie Morphy

Chair of Governors

Yasmin Sidhwa (from 01/08/17)

Governor

Nominations Committee
Professor Alistair Fitt

Vice-Chancellor and Ex-officio member, Board of Governors

Martin Howell

Governor

Robert Kirtland

Governor

Leslie Morphy (Chair)

Governor

Phil Shadbolt (until 31/01/17)

Governor

Yasmin Sidhwa (from 01/08/17)

Governor

Senior Management Team (Vice-Chancellor’s Group from 01/08/17)
Professor Alistair Fitt

Vice-Chancellor

Chris Blackburn

Pro Vice-Chancellor and Dean of Business School

Cathy Burleigh

Director of Finance & Legal Services

Brendan Casey

Registrar and Chief Operating Officer

Alison Cross

Director of Human Resources

Professor Linda King

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Research and Global Partnerships

Professor Julie McLeod

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Student Experience

Professor June Girvin (until 31/03/17)

Pro Vice-Chancellor and Dean of Faculty of Health and Life Sciences

Dr Astrid Schloerscheidt (from 30/05/17)

Pro Vice-Chancellor and Dean of Faculty of Health and Life Sciences

Paul Inman

Pro Vice-Chancellor and Dean of Faculty of Technology, Design and Environment

Professor Anne-Marie Kilday

Pro Vice-Chancellor and Dean of Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences

Paul Large (until 31/07/17)

Director of Infrastructure Investment

Advisors
Bankers
Barclays Bank plc
Public Sector Team
Level 27
1 Churchill Place
London
E14 5HP

External Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Cornwall Court
19 Cornwall Street Snow Hill
Birmingham
B3 2DT

Internal Auditors
KPMG
One Snowhill
Queensway
Birmingham
West Midlands
B4 6GH
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Strategic report
Strategy 2020
The Board of Governors of Oxford Brookes University presents
its results, including the results of its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 July 2017. The University operates within the strategy
developed to 2020 and approved by the Board. This was
formulated in 2009/10, approved by the Board of Governors in
February 2010 and is reviewed and updated periodically.
Oxford Brookes University’s charitable purpose is the advancement
of education. The key beneficiaries are our students. Through
our students, as well as through knowledge exchange and other
community engagement, wider society also benefits. We deliver
this charitable purpose for the public benefit by delivering the
University’s Strategy 2020, set out below, and through specific
public benefit initiatives set out later in this document.
Mission
Oxford Brookes University is committed to leading the
intellectual, social and economic development of the
communities it serves through teaching, research and creativity
that achieve the highest standards.
Values
In the development and nurturing of intellectual and enterprising
creativity we make our highest contribution to society. Social
responsibility demands that all aspects of our activity should be
sustainable. Equality, inclusivity and the celebration of diversity
must be the foundation for all we do. We will never be content
with anything other than a wholehearted commitment to the
quality of the student experience. We will continue to enhance
the value – and the perception of value – of our social as well as
educational mission.
Vision
Oxford Brookes University will provide an exceptional, studentcentred experience which is based on both internationally significant
research and pedagogic best practice. We will build on a tradition
of distinction in academic, professional and social engagement to
enhance our reputation as a university which educates confident
citizens characterised by their generosity of spirit.
Strategic goals

We will:
■■

Ensure that learning and teaching are at the leading edge
and relevant to contemporary contexts.

■■

Provide an environment where students are proactively
engaged in shaping their experience through influencing
learning and extra-curricular policy, processes and
outcomes.

Research and knowledge exchange
We will be a university that is committed to externally
recognised world-leading research which is translated and
disseminated for the benefit of our communities.
We will:
■■

Focus on the areas of research which are, or have the
potential to be, recognised as world leading and encourage
multi and interdisciplinary research activity across the
university.

■■

Increase the exploitation and dissemination of the highest
quality research and collaboration with other Higher
Education Institutions and the public, private and third sector.

Infrastructure and services
We will be a university characterised by its sector-leading, high
quality, sustainable and cost-effective services, operating within
a culture of continuous improvement.
We will:
■■

Manage our activities to achieve self-sustaining and robust
finances and a strong position relative to the HE sector.

■■

Develop and enhance the quality and efficiency of the
university’s infrastructure and services.

External
We will be a university dedicated to improving the human
condition in Oxfordshire and around the world.
We will:
■■

Harness the enterprising creativity, knowledge, and
commitment of the university’s academics, staff and students
to benefit urban and rural communities principally within
Oxfordshire.

■■

Further develop mutually beneficial partnerships to facilitate
the application of the university’s education, research, and
knowledge transfer nationally and internationally and to prepare
the university’s graduates to be engaged global citizens.

Student Experience
We will be a university that enables a student experience of the
highest standard possible.

Our guiding principles:

Generosity of spirit

Enterprising creativity

We believe people flourish in a culture of respect and
support, where we celebrate difference and thrive on each
other’s success. Our students manifest a generosity of
spirit as they progress in the world.

We’re adaptable and flexible, and consider a fresh
approach in everything we do – because we know our
sustainability depends on a pioneering spirit.

Confidence

Connectedness

We have confidence in our staff and students, and we
know that we prepare our graduates well for a fulfilling
and valuable life. Through their success,
we continue to earn our outstanding reputation.

Our academic excellence is underpinned by a history of
learning by doing. Our connections and our Oxford roots
are fundamental to our students’ experiences and our
successful future.
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Achieving our strategic commitments:
Student experience

Oxford Brookes remains committed to its strategic goals in
ensuring that “learning and teaching are at the leading edge”
and in providing “an environment where students are proactively
engaged in shaping their experience”.
In June, Oxford Brookes received a Silver award in the Teaching
Excellence Framework (TEF). The TEF has been introduced by
the UK Government to “recognise and reward excellent learning
and teaching at universities”.
The TEF Panel judged that the University delivers “high quality
teaching, learning and outcomes for its students. It consistently
exceeds rigorous national quality requirements for UK higher
education.”
The TEF award recognises that “students achieve excellent
outcomes” and the “outstanding levels of satisfaction with teaching
and assessment and feedback” at Oxford Brookes. It noted:
■■

“a strategic focus on excellent teaching quality including
research informed teaching”

■■

“high levels of investment in physical and digital resources
which are valued by students”

■■

“excellent use of data, which informs academic support”

■■

“developments in learning and teaching consistently informed
by the student voice”

■■

“a focus on teaching qualifications for academic staff, which
is highly valued by staff”.

over ten years, is a clear signal of this. This year we have seen
teaching spaces improved across all of our campuses, a move to
better facilities, clinics and teaching spaces at our new Swindon
campus and the setting out of our plans for the Headington and
Harcourt Hill campuses.  
An example of how Oxford Brookes has identified innovative
approaches to remain at the leading edge is through the
eight Programme to Enhance the Student Experience (PESE)
projects. The ambitious projects see staff from across the
University, with crucial input from a dedicated Student
Experience Group, working collaboratively to further improve the
time of students studying at Oxford Brookes.
Most of the projects will soon be progressing to business
as usual and embedded within the everyday practices and
activities at the University.
A great example of the work of PESE in 2016/17 has been the
BrookesID project. This is a new co-curricular initiative designed in
partnership with students to recognise and reward commitment
and engagement beyond their programme of study. It gives
students the opportunity to individually develop their interests and
skills in a way that reflects their uniqueness as a student.

The University is now planning how it can further improve its
teaching excellence.

Successfully piloted in the last year, the BrookesID app
recognises the various activities available to students at the
University. This might range from volunteering and social action
to participating in a sports team or developing a new business
idea. These extra-curricular activities can improve wellbeing,
provide new experiences and enhance employability. The
BrookesID app recognises these achievements and aligns
them to one of the University’s Guiding Principles: Confidence,
Enterprising Creativity, Connectedness and Generosity of Spirit.

We know that a learning environment to match the excellent
provision of teaching and support is so important to students.
The ongoing development of our campuses as part of our estate
investment plan, with over £220m of development planned

This is just one specific example of the continued development
of the student experience taking place at Oxford Brookes. The
University will continue to engage with students as it recognises that
their voice is so important to driving change and improvements.

9

Achieving our strategic commitments:
Research and knowledge exchange
Oxford Brookes continues to have a strong reputation for the
quality of its research. In the past year the University has had a
record year for bringing in research contracts and for levels of
intellectual property income. This follows the results of the last
Research Excellence Framework (REF) which demonstrated
that 94% of submitted research was internationally-recognised
or better and 59% was judged to be internationally excellent or
world-leading.
The University has built on this with the implementation of the
recently revised Research and Knowledge Exchange Strategy.
As part of Oxford Brookes’ commitment to supporting researchactive academics, the University introduced the Research
Excellence Awards (REA) in 2016/17. This saw 23 members of
the University’s research community receive funding as part of
the inaugural REAs.
The initiative marks an investment in researchers aiming to
be submitted in the next REF with world-leading 4* outputs
or impact case studies. It has also encouraged greater
collaboration within the University, nationally and internationally.
The 2016/17 REAs have been very successful in strengthening
research opportunities at Oxford Brookes and the scheme is to
be repeated in 2017/18 with new recipients identified.
The strategic commitment to developing staff was recognised
in October 2016 when the University retained its HR Excellence
in Research Award from the European Commission. The
award demonstrates the University’s support of the personal,
professional and career development of its research-active staff.
This includes the ongoing improvements to programmes such
as ‘Your First Three Years’ which supports new research-active
staff, or those new to research, in launching their academic
career at Oxford Brookes.
Across each of our faculties, we have continued to see excellent
examples of research at Oxford Brookes in 2016/17. Within the
Faculty of Technology, Design and Environment, work is beginning
on a major project with the Ford Motor Company that will deliver
highly efficient and minimally polluting next generation engines.

A study led by the Low Carbon Building Group at Oxford Brookes
found that summertime overheating in care facilities is both a
current and future risk, yet there is little awareness or preparation
to prevent the health risks posed to the UK’s ageing population.
The Centre for Diversity Policy Research and Practice, part of the
Oxford Brookes Business School, undertook the first major UK
study into the exchange of board-level talent between business
and academia and demonstrated that the UK is lagging behind
the US with regard to professional and sector diversity.
The life-changing work undertaken by the Faculty of Health and
Life Sciences has been enhanced with the announcement of
the newly launched Oxford School of Nursing and Midwifery, a
partnership with Oxford University Hospitals and Oxford Health
NHS Foundation Trusts. Supported by the Oxford Brookesled Oxford Institute of Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health
Research, the School will foster evidence-based practice to
enhance the health and wellbeing of the population of Oxford,
the region and beyond.
Research from the University’s Department of Biological and
Medical Sciences has been instrumental in the UK-Brazil
Neglected Infectious Diseases Partnership. The project received
Newton Funding and aims to support science and innovation
partnerships which promote the economic development and
welfare of targeted developing countries.
Within the Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, a study
by an international team of scientists, led by an Oxford Brookes
academic, has reconstructed the longest ever record of past
sunshine using fossil pollen grains collected from lake sediments
in Ghana, Africa. This enables scientists to better understand
past changes in solar input over the past 140,000 years, and
the influence this has had on Earth’s environment, with a view to
helping to predict future climate change.
The Faculty also plays a leading role in primate conservation
and a study co-authored by 31internationally recognised
experts on primate conservation, including two from Oxford
Brookes, is the most comprehensive review of the extinction
crisis facing primates to date.
There has been significant change at a government level in relation
to research in 2016/17. Oxford Brookes has helped to shape the
responses to the Stern Review which will set the parameters of
the next REF. The introduction of significant new bodies in UK
Research and Innovation (UKRI) and Research England was also
announced. The future of the UK’s involvement in the EU funding
frameworks in future years remains uncertain but the University
continues to influence this important area for the sector.
There were also important announcements on the Industrial
Strategy Challenge Fund, to provide funding and support to
UK businesses and researchers, and the Global Challenges
Research Fund, a key component in tackling global challenges
in the national interest. These are areas in which the University
will be looking to extend its expertise in the future.
The strength of research at Oxford Brookes means that
the University is well placed to meet the challenges and
opportunities anticipated over the coming years.
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Achieving our strategic commitments:
Infrastructure and services
The Estate
This year has seen progress continue with the Estate
Investment Plan. As announced in 2015, University activity will
be withdrawn from the Wheatley Campus by 2021/22. The
University’s Board of Governors decided to pursue the sale of
the Wheatley Campus and rebalance our Oxford-based activity
on the Headington and Harcourt Hill campuses.
Investment in the Wheatley student and staff experience continues.
Work this summer included a refresh of the library with more group
and individual study spaces and, following student feedback, the
Simon Williams building featuring a new social area and gym. Over
the next year the specialist computer labs and many staff will move
into the more modern buildings for an improved and cohesive
campus layout.
On the Headington Campus, work progressed with the Clerici
building in preparation for the Oxford Brookes Business
School move from September 2017. Along with new Business
spaces, the Clerici building provides 31 new teaching rooms, a
collaborative lecture theatre, social learning spaces and a cafe.
The former Main Hall has also been rebuilt and transformed
into the Sir Kenneth Wheare Hall as a modern flexible teaching
space suitable for headline events like graduations.
The Sinclair project has seen major progress with the delivery
of new teaching, research and office space for the Faculty of
Health and Life Sciences. A new 100 seat teaching laboratory
is now in use with further laboratories and academic space
completing over the next two years.
Over the next ten years, Headington and Harcourt Hill campuses
will see investment of over £220 million. We are currently working
on a campus development plan for Harcourt Hill which will feature a
new library and student hub building, enhanced sports facilities and
a complete refurbishment programme of existing premises. This will
allow us to rebalance student numbers across two campuses.
In Headington, the next projects include the redevelopment of
the Helena Kennedy building for the reprovision of specialist
facilities from the Wheatley site.

We have also developed a Residential Investment Plan which
includes updating our older student accommodation and
increasing our student bed stock.
IT Infrastructure and services
We are committed to being a university characterised by its
sector-leading, high quality, sustainable and cost-effective
services, operating within a culture of continuous improvement.
As part of this we will:
■■

manage our activities to achieve self-sustaining and robust
finances and a strong position relative to the HE sector

■■

develop and enhance the quality and efficiency of the
university’s infrastructure and services.

Development of the University’s IT infrastructure and associated
projects has continued throughout 2016/17.
The IT Programme Management Office has overseen the
delivery of significant projects during this time: completion of the
new staff/student smartcard roll out, the migration of our legacy
Student Record System (eCSIS) to a more stable environment,
Clerici and Sinclair network refurbishments, technology for the
new Swindon campus, new student accommodation software
solution, assistance in implementing a mentoring application for
Brookes students (Aluminate) and a managed print service.
A  number of projects are currently prioritised for delivery in 2017/18
although the IT Investment Programme is subject to annual review.  
Investment continues in Business as Usual service delivery to
enhance the student experience and ensure the delivery of IT
Services aligned with the IT strategy 2020.
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Achieving our strategic commitments:
External

Oxford Brookes is dedicated to improving the human condition
in Oxfordshire and around the world. This ongoing commitment
was clearly demonstrated in April 2017 with the launch of the
University’s new Social Responsibility Framework.

■■

Oxford Brookes was a sponsor of the Cowley Road Carnival
in July, cementing a long-term relationship between the event
and the University. An estimated 50,000 people turned out to
celebrate over the weekend. Oxford Brookes staff, students
and alumni took part in the main procession along with a
larger-than-life robot made from recycled materials and the
Brookes Racing Team with their Formula Student racing
car. In the Brookes Zone, the University showcased exciting
examples of teaching, research and community engagement
which take place across the institution.

■■

Oxford Brookes opened its doors for the annual Science
Bazaar in February which attracted 1,200 people. Families
took the opportunity to meet researchers and find out more
about the work carried out across the University. This was
just one of numerous free events held on the University’s
campuses for the wider community including open lectures
from influential guest speakers, art exhibitions in the Glass
Tank and regular screenings as part of the Documentary Club.

■■

The University joined partners across the city to deliver
the fourth Oxford Green Week, formerly Low Carbon
Oxford Week, in June 2017 in which culture, creativity and
community inspired local people to take action against
climate change.

The Framework brings the ambitions expressed in the
University’s mission and vision to life. It provides an
overview and the sharing of stories of the many initiatives at
Oxford Brookes and beyond that have a positive social or
environmental impact.
The Social Responsibility Framework focuses on four key areas:
■■

developing our students to become socially responsible
graduates

■■

engaging and supporting staff

■■

being a valued partner in our communities

■■

operating the University sustainably.

Across each of these areas there are clear examples of how
Oxford Brookes is leading the way.  
The Oxford Brookes Social Entrepreneur Awards (OBSEA)
are available to students, recent graduates and staff who are
passionate about a social issue and want to put the knowledge
and skills they gain at Oxford Brookes into action. Social
entrepreneurship is about using proven business techniques
and approaches to address social and environmental
opportunities and problems and where profit is used to help to
solve issues.  
Examples of successful OBSEA projects in 2016/17 included:
Stumped
Stumped looks at non-trauma limb amputees from the UK and
what their needs are, versus the support available to meet the
needs. The project is researching what is missing in the market
and the solutions that amputees themselves would put forward.
The students involved in this project are first year adult nursing
students with experience of working in the care industry.
Wisdom Super Juice
This project aims to introduce a nutritious Baobab juice and
Baobab and Hibiscus cocktail to the UK market. Any profit
made from this investment will be used to fund a youth service
centre in the Gambia. Here the project will provide access to
a dedicated, safe and inclusive place providing development
services for young people from disadvantaged backgrounds.
Students also continue to impact positively on the community
through the University’s Student Impact Fund and the ongoing work
as part of the Brookes Hub which supports the tackling of social
challenges, learning about issues and connecting with each other.
Closer to home, the University continues to play a significant
role in its local community, including:
■■

Oxford Brookes once again hosted a series of events at
the Pegasus Theatre in east Oxford for the annual OutBurst
festival. Many of the sessions sold out and feedback from
the local community was positive, ranging from virtual reality
painting to Kung Fu and Tai Chi taster sessions, and from a
theatre performance by Stones Theatre Company to a cooking
demonstration with chef and friend of the University, Ken Hom.

June also saw the University successfully complete its three
year re-certification for the ISO14001 internationally accredited
Environmental Management System (EMS) and transitioned to
the new 2015 edition. Oxford Brookes uses EMS as a tool to
embed environmental issues and values across the organisation
and the external accreditation ensures we are meeting these
standards.
Oxford Brookes Business School renewed its commitment
to the Principles of Responsible Management Education
(PRIME) in February 2017. Launched in 2007, PRIME is the
largest organised relationship between the United Nations and
business schools.
These are just a few examples of how the University has
continued to contribute to society – locally, nationally and
internationally.
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Our staff
The overall staff full time equivalent (FTE) increased slightly from
1,886 to 1,944 in the last year, with academic and senior staff
making up 40% of the workforce.
There were a number of staffing changes at senior management
level. Following competitive search exercises the following
appointments were made:
■■

Seamus Shaw, formerly Chief Technology Officer at University
College Dublin, joined to become Chief Information Officer and
now leads the retitled IT Services Directorate

■■

John Kirk moved from the University of Birmingham to
become Academic Registrar and Director of Academic and
Student Affairs

■■

Suzy Jenner was appointed as Director of the new
Directorate of Marketing and Communications, having held
communications roles in central government. Marketing and
Communications replaces the former Directorate of Corporate
Affairs

■■

Dr Astrid Schloerscheidt was appointed as Pro ViceChancellor/Dean in the Faculty of Health and Life Sciences

■■

Roger Grew was promoted to lead the new Directorate of
Strategic Change and Planning.

Other developments
Enhancement of the staff experience is a new focus, which
complements our strengths in delivering an outstanding student
experience. Professor Anne-Marie Kilday, Pro Vice-Chancellor
and Dean of the Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, leads
this portfolio and has developed a strategy and action plan for the
staff experience. In the next academic year, we will be running a
University-wide staff satisfaction survey, as well as a further round
of the Brookes People Awards, which were launched as part of
the 150th anniversary celebrations in 2015.

We have also engaged with external charter marks (Athena
SWAN and Stonewall) to promote equality, diversity and inclusion.
The University retained a bronze institutional award under the
new, enhanced Athena SWAN charter, with the Faculty of
Technology, Design and Environment gaining a bronze faculty
award. A steering group has been established to work towards
the ECU Race Equality Charter mark. A range of lively and
engaging events were held to mark Black History Month and
LGBT History Month. The University also successfully retained its
accreditation under the HR Excellence in Research scheme.
The Oxford Brookes Business School continued its staff
consultation and engagement programme (Realign, Reposition
and Relocate) in preparation for the move from Wheatley to
refurbished premises on the Headington campus planned for
September 2017.
The Oxford Centre for Staff and Learning Development, part
of the Human Resources Directorate, is one of the largest and
best-regarded providers of staff and educational development
in the HE sector, and continues to play a leading role within the
University in the implementation of the Strategy for Enhancing
the Student Experience, including the launch of an Academic
Development Framework, which brings together teacher,
researcher and leadership development.
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Our students
Student numbers (headcount) have remained constant at 17,814
(compared to 17,840 in 2015/16). This follows the strategic
decision to meet student number targets in a measured way,
whilst also maintaining quality (tariff).

postgraduate numbers. The latter have seen an increase in
2016/17, up to 4,109 from 3,937 in the previous year. Oxford
Brookes had seen a decrease postgraduate numbers in recent
years, so this is a welcome recovery.

The make-up of the student body has continued to change.
There is a continuing decline in the number of part-time students
studying at Oxford Brookes (3,681 in 2016/17 compared to
3,934 the previous year). This reduction in the proportion of parttime students matches the trend over the previous three years.

Figure 3 charts the full time equivalent (FTE) of international and
home/EU students over time. This shows that the University’s
overall student FTE is at its highest since its peak in 2011-12.
International student FTE has decreased by a small margin over
the last three years and this is an area the University is looking to
grow in future years through its International Strategy.

Undergraduate numbers have dropped slightly, but overall
student numbers have remained steady due to growth in

Figure 1.
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Figure 2.
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Financial results
The University’s specific targets are detailed annually in a set of
key performance indicators (KPIs). The University’s Executive
Board and Board of Governors monitor achievements in relation
to the KPIs. Full details of these KPIs can be found in the
Performance Report for Governors which is published annually
in December.
Financial sustainability has been maintained. Financial KPI
targets in relation to financial sustainability are:
■■

To achieve a level of operating surplus that generates
sufficient cash to resource agreed strategic investment (ie
surpluses identified in the plans) – Achieved

STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2017
The University 5 year financial forecasts show continued
sustainable surpluses that reflect the latest student number
forecasts, the Estates Investment Plan and IT Capital plan, and
agreed efficiency targets across Faculties and Directorates.
Key Performance Indicator

2016/17

2015/16

Operating Surplus

£5.7m

£12.5m

Total Income

£198.1m

£192.6m

■■

To contain staff costs to below 55% of turnover and aim for
50% – Achieved (51.8%)

EBITDA

£30.6m

£37.7m

EBITDA%

15.42%

19.57%

■■

To maintain net current assets and aim for a ratio of current
liabilities to current assets of 1:1.25 – Achieved (1:1.43)

£4.35m

£(24.2)m

■■

To achieve all loan covenant ratios within safety margins
and all financial commitments within HEFCE’s Financial
Commitment Threshold – Achieved

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year
Operating surplus as a % of
income

2.86%

6.49%

Unrestricted income and
expenditure reserve excluding
pension reserve as a % of
income
External borrowings as a % of
income
Gearing: borrowing as a % of
reserves
Net cash flow from operating
activities as a % of income
General funds as a % of
income
Staff number average
headcount *
Staff number average FTE

85.06%

80.59%

65.49%

67.22%

92.98%

95.32%

16.48%

16.03%

17.79%

16.58%

3362

3096

1937

1886

Staff costs as a % of income

51.83%

49.85%

These demonstrate that all financial targets and bank covenants
have been met.
The operating surplus for the year was £5.7m.
Risk management at both strategic and operational level is fully
embedded, and Governors actively participate in the process.
The University constantly strives to improve its environmental
sustainability in the areas of travel, building energy use, ethical
procurement, conservation and carbon reduction.

Undergraduate student satisfaction:
With teaching
83%

88%

With course overall

87%

83%

Postgraduate student
80%
satisfaction with course overall
Research projects awarded in £5.7m
year

84%
£3.5m

* Staff number headcount includes Associate Lecturers,
staff number FTE excludes Associate Lecturers
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Financial outlook
This year the University outperformed against the target
operating surplus of £10.6m by £2.8m before the pension
adjustment for LGPS of £7.7m, required for FRS accounting
purposes, resulting in a final figure of £5.7m. This compares
with £12.5m in the previous year. The University has
outperformed its budget target for the sixth consecutive year
through continued financial prudence.
Recruitment remained positive overall, and student fee income
achieved target including the healthcare contracts for NHS
funded students. The anticipated downward trend in international
student numbers materialised, but was offset by the increase
in PG and healthcare students above target. Early analysis of
student numbers in 2017/18 indicates that a shortfall in PG and
UG international is offset by above target performance in Home
UG. Final student numbers will be confirmed later in 2017 based
on enrolment data. We are confident that any shortfall will be
covered by the prudent assumptions made during the planning
process and built into the contingency provision made against
income.
It is recognised that higher education is becoming an
increasingly challenging and volatile sector. It is a declining
market in both size and demand. As such the University is
focused on increasing market share to the internal target
level set by the Vice-Chancellors Group (VCG). The University
has considered carefully its business objectives and strategy
around future student numbers within the constraints of a falling
population of 18 year olds, falling applications from older (19+)
and mature applicants, risks arising from Brexit, changes to the
funding source for NHS students and taking into account local
constraints on the number of students living in Oxford City. This
latter constraint is being actively addressed in the development
and delivery of the Residential Investment Plan.
The University aims to achieve a stable Home UG intake for the
next five years at approximately 3,150 FTE each year, whilst
maintaining average tariff relative to the sector position as at
September 2017. It is investing in an international strategy to
increase international students and improve its market position,
and has developed specific business objectives to increase the
numbers incrementally to an overall target of 1,225 for UG and
PG by 2022/23.
There is an added competitive challenge posed by online
universities and alternative providers. The newly appointed
Director of  Marketing and Communications is focused on
improving the University market share, and is prioritising: the
identification and consolidation of cross university marketing
resources; investigating the potential to launch a digital delivery
platform, enabling amongst other things, the ability to offer a
number of UG and PG degrees 100% online; and a customer
experience strategy which will enable it to design and react to
customer interactions and meet customer expectations, and
thus increase customer satisfaction and conversion rate of
applicants to enrolments.
The University continues to invest in technology: £22m by
2020/21 to improve the student experience and to optimise
efficiency. This includes investment in the Student Record

System (SRS), Content Management System (CMS), Customer
Relationship Management (CRM) and Electronic Data Warehouse
(EDW), all planned for delivery in 2018/19 to 2019/20. In addition
IT infrastructure will be made more robust via the IT Architecture
plan adopted to increase the stability of the network; the
connectivity for teaching, research and student experience, and
to enhance unified communications. The investment enables
future economic benefits to accrue to the University.
The financial strategy for the period 2017/18 to 2020/21
approved by the Governors in July 2017 focuses on continuing
to generate strong operating cash (each year of the forecast
plans generates a minimum of £31m) and controlling operating
expenditure, including delivering £4m recurrent efficiency savings.
Year end cash balances were £39m this and all years of the
forecast plan ensure a minimum balance of £20m.
Interest payable reflects the cumulative costs of outstanding
loans and the private placement of £60m secured in 2015 in
addition to the estimated costs of drawing the revolving credit
facility (RCF) secured in 2016 to provide flexibility ahead of the
Wheatley site sale. Opportunities for the restructuring of older
loans and their terms will be revisited in year, in tandem with the
exploration of financing options to deliver the emerging student
residences strategy in line with University business objectives.  
Treasury management is undertaken in-house. Returns have
been low given the further drop in bank base rate to 0.25%
and the continuation of quantitative easing from August 2016.
The predicted rise in base rate later in the autumn and a review
by the newly appointed internal auditors PWC will help identify
opportunities for a greater return while maintaining a low risk
environment.
The University Estates Investment Plan (EIP) is £162m up to
2020/21. In 2016/17 investment was £42m in infrastructure of
which: £37m related to the estate; £4m to IT projects including
progress on the SRS, and £1m mainly on faculty based plans.
The estates’ plans include development of the Harcourt Hill
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campus and closure of the Wheatley site for sale by 2021-22.
These plans are underpinned by careful financial planning.
There is a continued focus on value for money. The annual VFM
report was presented to the September 2017 meeting of The
Audit Committee. The procurement department took part in
a third consecutive annual Southern Universities Purchasing
Consortium (SUPC).
Procurement Maturity Assessment (PMA) recorded a 21.2%
improvement in procurement maturity compared to the previous
PMA. The updated assessment moved the University from
tactical to planned status. Procurement has a net target for
savings of £450k in 2017/18 as well as supporting the faculties
and directorates in achieving £3.5m of ongoing savings in
total. Purchasing performance is monitored regularly and
reported to the Director of Finance and Legal Services as part
of quarterly compliance reporting. There is a programme of
service improvement including changes to increase efficiency of
the finance system and payments team processing to ensure
payments are made within payment terms, usually 30 days.
Emerging issues include; the condition of some of the students’
residences requiring refurbishment of £27m over the next 5
years and the need for additional capacity of around 1300
rooms, to meet the constraints imposed by the City Council on
students living in the city region. Options are being explored
to be discussed later in the autumn with the Governors. The
University recognises that underinvestment in its key priorities
does not result in efficient and effective savings but builds up
problems into the future. The careful positioning of the priorities
in the estates and residential plans is central to retaining student
intake, within planned financial parameters.

The University has increased its fees to £9,250 from 2017, and
had built in 2% uplift in inflation in future years. This means
that by 2020/21 (year five of the plan) the fee is assumed to be
£9,815. However, the recent announcement from the current
government, that tuition fees are frozen and subject to further
review means that the agreed surplus in the five year plans
reduces by circa £6m in 2020/21. It is aware that amidst the
uncertainty of who will form the next government, the Labour
Party, have pledged to abolish tuition fees and moved to an
emphasis on lifelong learning over university access for all.
There remains no certainty around the level of funding that
would be provided in the event that fees were abolished. The
University is therefore focused on closing the gap in its surplus
in the forecast plans from the known changes, and ensuring
that it maintains and strengthens the flexibility in its plans to
achieve further cost reductions. This will be addressed fully in
the 2018/19 financial planning process.
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Public benefit
In making decisions on the University’s activities, the governors
have given due regard to, and taken into account, the Charity
Commission guidance on public benefit in exercising their
powers and duties. As an exempt charity, providing higher
education and research, Oxford Brookes University’s charitable
purpose is the advancement of education. The key beneficiaries
are our students. Through our students, as well as through
knowledge exchange and other community engagement, wider
society also benefits.
A large number of the ways in which Oxford Brookes University
meets its charitable purpose and objective are set out in
the previous sections, relating to the delivery of the Strategy
2020. However, other areas of important activity in advancing
education are set out below.
Encouraging progression to university for underrepresented groups
Oxford Brookes continues to deliver a comprehensive
programme of activity to raise awareness of higher education
and to support students from under-represented groups, who
have the academic ability and potential to succeed, progress to
university. The activities for 2016/17 are outlined below.
In partnership with local schools and colleges in Oxfordshire, the
outreach team worked with primary school students to make
them aware of how university fits into their educational journey
and to help them manage their transition to secondary school.  
Work with students in secondary school and further education
colleges included a range of on-campus and in-school or college
activities including talks, workshops, mentoring, residential
summer schools and a conference designed to support the
progression of students of black and minority ethnic heritage.  
One of our flagship programmes is Brookes Engage, an 18-month
programme of monthly activities designed to help students in Years
12 and 13 to make a successful transition to university.
The second Brookes Engage cohort graduated in July and
81.8% of the students who took part have applied to go to
university in September 2017 or 2018. A further 13.5% have
stated that they are taking a gap year first.
In addition to the work delivered by Oxford Brookes, the
University also supports our collaborative partnership with
Bucks New University, the University of Oxford and Reading
University to deliver an integrated programme of outreach
under the Study Higher banner among schools in Oxfordshire,
Buckinghamshire, Berkshire and Swindon.
Our collaborative partnership Study Higher was successful in its
bid to secure funding from the Higher Education Funding Council
for England (HEFCE) to help increase the number of young people
from disadvantaged backgrounds in higher education.
The partnership, which is led by Oxford Brookes University
and made up of universities and further education colleges
across Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Berkshire and Swindon,
was awarded £3.4 million over two years, as part of HEFCE’s
National Collaborative Outreach Programme.
The partnership is using the funding to work collaboratively
on a wide-range of outreach activities with targeted schools
and colleges across the region to highlight opportunities within
higher education.

This includes a project to encourage white, working class boys to
progress to higher education, increased provision of information
and advice for students progressing from vocational qualifications,
and a continued focus on supporting students with caring
responsibilities. The project is well underway, with staff in contact
with all eligible schools and colleges in the region, and a full plan of
activities with young people in the process of being delivered.
Providing alternative ways to access Higher Education
Oxford Brookes works with local further education colleges
through our Associate College Partnerships (ACP). This enables
the University to provide a low cost route into higher education
and offer opportunities to attain qualifications closer to home in
an environment that students from under-represented groups
often find more accessible.
Through the ACP, students can top-up from a Foundation to a
Bachelor’s degree at Oxford Brookes but we are also increasingly
offering the opportunity to do entire Bachelor’s degree programmes
at our partner colleges whilst assuring the educational provision is
at least equivalent to the University’s direct provision.
Financial support
Oxford Brookes University annually agrees the funding it will
provide to support students requiring financial support during
their studies with the Office for Fair Access (OFFA).
During 2016/17 financial year, Oxford Brookes provided the
following support:
■■

Oxford Brookes Bursaries & Scholarships – £3.84m to 2,147
students

■■

Fee Waivers – £0.34m to 221 students

■■

Hardship fund, disability aid and Springhill fund – £0.7m

Sponsoring other educational establishments
The University continues to support The Oxford Academy in our
role as sponsor and works closely with the school to deliver a
programme of integrated support designed to raise attainment
and increase progression to higher education. In addition to
students participating in an established programme of outreach
activity, the University also delivers an intensive programme of
one-to-one support.
The school has continued to improve and received a good
rating from Ofsted following an inspection in September 2016.
The report also found that the school provides outstanding
leadership in the local community.
Oxford Brookes also continued as co-sponsor of the University
Technical College (UTC) in Swindon over 2016/17. The College,
a specialist engineering academy for 14 to 19 year olds, opened
in 2014 and is jointly sponsored by Johnson Matthey Fuel Cells.
It aims to improve the secondary education offer in Swindon.
In February 2017 it was announced that UTC Swindon will join the
Activate Learning Education Trust for the 2017/18 academic year.
The creation of a new post of Executive Principal, to bring
additional leadership capacity to the UTC, was also announced
at this time. UTC Swindon will become the fifth school to join
the multi-academy trust and Oxford Brookes will move from
being a sponsor to a partner with the institution.
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Other key developments
External Relations
In 2017, a new strategy was set out for the External Relations
team. It articulates the work the team will undertake over the
next three years (2017 to 2019) to create a more holistic and
focussed approach to external engagement, and outlines how
this new direction to help deliver key areas of the University’s
2020 Strategy.
This renewed vision for the External Relations team will have the
following objective at its heart:
“To maximise the University’s relationships with external
stakeholders, in order to further enhance the University’s reputation
and secure sustainable financial and participative support for the
University’s strategic priorities”. The team’s goals are to:
■■

Develop a global alumni engagement programme which
fosters a lifelong community of engaged and active
alumni, improving opportunities for mutual and meaningful
relationships and increasing participation

■■

Strengthen the relationship between the University, its
students and the local community enabling Brookes to move
to a more proactive and positive approach to relationships
with the local community

■■

Deliver an outstanding events programme which enhances
relationships with the local community, alumni and donors,
as well as supporting the University’s research agenda  

■■

Create a new institutional approach to fundraising, where
the building of meaningful relationships with potential
donors, and the value of philanthropy, become central to the
formulation and pursuit of University objectives

■■

Create a step change in stakeholder relationship management
by providing robust data, systems and processes.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Governors by:

Leslie Morphy
Chair of Governors

International student recruitment
In line with the International Strategy 2016-2020, Oxford Brookes
International (OBI) and the University are pursuing a number of
opportunities to enhance international student recruitment and to
establish more strategic international partnerships.
On recruitment, we are operating in an increasingly
competitive and unpredictable environment. The University
has commissioned a review into OBI and international student
recruitment.
It is hoped that this will clarify possible ways forward. In the
meantime OBI has initiated a number of projects to improve
recruitment, including the appointment of additional offices
overseas (China from 2016, South East Asia from 2017), and a
number of market-specific marketing campaigns.
The appointment of a new Director of Marketing and
Communications will help to bring together and coordinate
initiatives across the university.
On partnerships, an International Strategic Partnerships Group
has been established which is agreeing strategic and operational
ways forward across the University. A number of new partnership
opportunities are being actively pursued. In particular, the
partnership with Chengdu University of Technology is now in its
second year and discussions are ongoing on how this might be
delivered further.
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Corporate Governance
and Internal Control
Introduction
The University is committed to best practice in all aspects of its
corporate governance and has regard to the voluntary Governance
Code of Practice contained in the Committee of University
Chairmen’s ‘Guide for Members of Higher Education Governing
Bodies in the UK’, published in March 2009 and revised as ’The
Higher Education Code of Governance’ in December 2014.
The code identifies seven primary elements of governance that
underpin the value and beliefs articulated in the ‘Nolan Principles of
public life’ with the addition of eight aims and principles particular
to the nature of higher education. The University is confident it has
in place all of the primary elements and meets the requirements
of the supporting ‘must’ statements that prescribe essential
components within each element.
The summary below describes the manner in which the University
has applied the principles set out in the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance issued by the London Stock Exchange
in 2010 in so far as they relate to universities. Its purpose is to
help the reader of the financial statements understand how the
principles have been applied.
The Board of Governors
The Board of Governors, which meets formally five times a year,
is responsible for the University’s long-term objectives and for
strategies in relation to the educational character and mission of
the University and for providing overall financial and organisational
control. The Board comprises nine (independent) governors, the
Chief Executive (the Vice-Chancellor), two governors representing
university staff teaching and non-teaching, and the President of
the Students’ Union. There is a clear separation of the role of the
non-executive Chair from that of the Vice-Chancellor. The ViceChancellor is the accountable officer responsible for satisfying
the Board that all conditions of receiving and using grant aid from
HEFCE have been met, as per the Memorandum of Assurance
and Accountability with HEFCE. The University’s constitution
places responsibility for the University’s operations with the ViceChancellor who as the accountable officer, supported by the
senior management team, implements the Board’s policies and
develops and manages the University’s business.
A majority of the Board must, by law, be independent of the
University, and they bring with them a wealth of expertise from
their respective fields of business and professional activity. Board
members are appointed in accordance with the requirements
of the Education Reform Act 1988 and appointment processes
and terms of office are laid out in the procedures for the
appointment of Governors adopted by the Board. The normal
term of appointment is four years, after which members may
be eligible for reappointment. No board member may serve for
more than two consecutive terms of four years, other than the
Vice-Chancellor and the student governor, who may remain
members as long as they hold the position of Vice-Chancellor
and President of the Students’ Union respectively. The Standing
Orders of the Board make provision, by resolution, for the
extension of a member’s term of office beyond the normal limit of
eight years where that is necessary to allow the member to serve
a maximum term of four years as either Chair or Deputy Chair.

Senior Management Team and Executive Board
The Senior Management Team of the University comprises
the Vice-Chancellor, two Pro Vice-Chancellors (PVCs) with
specific responsibility for, respectively, the student experience
and research and global partnerships, the Registrar and Chief
Operating Officer, the four PVC Deans of Faculty, the Director
of Finance and Legal Services, the Director of Infrastructure
Investment and the Director of Human Resources. The team
meets formally on a fortnightly basis.
The Team also meets with the Associate Deans (Strategy and
Development) and the Directors of the University’s administrative
departments monthly, and is constituted as the Executive
Board. The Executive Board’s role derives from the executive
powers of the Vice-Chancellor. It is constituted in order to
focus on decision- making and also serves as a body which
can be used by the Vice-Chancellor for briefing, consultation
and communication with senior managers as a group. The
objective of the Executive Board is to ensure that an appropriate
level of consideration is given to strategic decisions, that
there is accountability for those decisions, and that improved
communication with the wider senior management group is
achieved. Specifically, the Executive Board determines:
■■

strategic and operational plans

■■

the annual budget and financial forecasts for the ViceChancellor to propose to the Board of Governors for
approval

■■

the implementation of policies as necessary and monitoring
of the University’s performance against plans

■■

determination and oversight of the processes by which
strategic and operational planning are undertaken, resources
allocated and targets, including student numbers, are
achieved

■■

implementation and monitoring of the University’s risk
management plans

■■

consideration of reports on value for money

■■

day-to-day ‘business as usual’ matters concerning the
management of the University.

The SMT and EB are replaced from the 1 August 2017 by the
Vice-Chancellor’s Group (VCG). The VCG membership mirrors
the SMT without the post of Director of Infrastructure, which is
discontinued. VCG becomes the new decision making body
advising the Vice-Chancellor.
Finance and Resources Committee
The Committee meets at least four times a year. Membership
consists of four independent governors and one co-opted member.
The committee is responsible to the Board of Governors for:
■■

advising the Vice-Chancellor, on a recommendation to the
Board, for the coming year’s recurrent and capital budgets,
and on the cash flow forecast and draft balance sheet arising

■■

recommending for approval by the Board, a rolling five-year
strategic plan, including financial plans (both revenue and
capital) projected five-year cash flow and balance sheets,
taking account of the requirements of the Bank Lenders and
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of the Funding Council

■■

the approval of the financial statements

■■

recommending the Estates Investment Plan to the
Board, and monitoring and reviewing its application and
implementation

■■

the systems and processes whereby assurance is obtained
on the quality of all data returns.

■■

recommending the Human Resources Strategy to the
Board, and monitoring and reviewing its application and
implementation

■■

recommending the IT Strategy to the Board, and monitoring
and reviewing its implementation

■■

reviewing changes to and the implementation of other key
University strategies from time to time, as necessary

■■

reviewing and recommending to the Board borrowing or
other financial vehicles necessary to fund the strategy, and
the release of funds for specific projects

■■

recommending to the Board, the acquisition or disposal of
lands and buildings.

These are the key areas but are not the full terms of reference.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year.
Membership consists of up to four governors and three coopted members. The committee is responsible for advising the
Board on:
■■

the effectiveness of the internal audit service and ensuring
that their recommendations are appropriately executed

■■

the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
procedures

■■

the work of the external auditors and whether they are
effectively carrying out their responsibilities to the Board
of Governors by reporting that the University’s financial
statements present a true and fair view of the year’s activities

■■

the existence of satisfactory arrangements to promote
economy, efficiency and effectiveness

[1]

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee meets as necessary to review
the policy for the remuneration of the senior staff appointed by
the Board of Governors. Membership consists of four governors
and the Vice-Chancellor[1]. The Vice-Chancellor is excluded from
matters concerning their own remuneration.
Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee comprises five governors including
the Vice-Chancellor. It is responsible for advising the Board on
the appointment of new governors and co-opted governors.
Academic Board
The Academic Board of the University is chaired by the ViceChancellor and comprises representatives of both the academic
and related areas of the University, a proportion of whom are
elected representatives. The Academic Board is responsible for:
■■

general issues relating to the research, scholarship, teaching
and courses at the University, including criteria for the
admission of students; the appointment and removal of
internal and external examiners; policies and procedures for
assessment and examination of the academic performance
of students; the content of the curriculum; academic
standards and the validation and review of courses; the
procedures for the award of qualifications and honorary
academic titles; and the procedures for the exclusion of
students for academic reasons

■■

considering the development of the academic activities of the
University and the resources needed to support them and
for advising the Vice-Chancellor and the Board of Governors
thereon

■■

advising on such other matters as the Board of Governors or
the Vice-Chancellor may refer to the Academic Board.

For clarification, the Remuneration Committee’s membership consists of four governors. The Vice-Chancellor attends at the request of the committee for
specific matters. (Amendment added on 14 December 2017)
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Internal Control
The key elements of the University’s systems of internal financial
control, which are designed to discharge the responsibilities of
the Board of Governors, include the following:
■■

■■

■■

In preparing the financial statements, the Board has to ensure that:
■■

suitable accounting policies are selected and applied
consistently

■■

judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable and
prudent

■■

a comprehensive medium and short-term planning process,
supplemented by detailed annual income, expenditure,
capital and cash-flow budgets

applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements

■■

regular reviews of academic performance and monthly
reviews of financial results involving variance reporting and
quarterly updates of the forecast outturn

financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the University will
continue in operation.

The Board has taken reasonable steps to:

clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority
delegated to, heads of academic and administrative
departments

■■

clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and
control of expenditure, with investment decisions involving
capital or revenue expenditure being subject to formal
detailed appraisal and review

■■

comprehensive financial regulations, detailing financial
controls and procedures, approved by the Audit Committee
and the Board of Governors

■■

a professional internal audit team whose annual programme
is approved by the Audit Committee.

Any systems of internal financial control can, however, only
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
Charitable status
The University is an Exempt Charity as defined by the Charities
Act 2011. From June 2010, HEFCE became the principal
regulator for exempt Charities, and these financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Memorandum of Assurance and Accountability with HEFCE.
Where activities undertaken by the University may fall outside
the terms of its charitable status, these are undertaken through
Oxford Brookes Enterprises Limited. The majority of the profits
of that company are gift aided annually to the University. All the
activities operated directly by the University are of a charitable
nature and as such not liable to corporation tax.
Statement of Board of Governors’ Responsibilities
In accordance with the Education Reform Act 1988 the Board
is responsible for the overall administration and management
of the affairs of the University, including ensuring an effective
system of internal control, and is required to present audited
financial statements for each financial year.
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the University and enable it to ensure that
the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the
Education Reform Act 1988, the requirements of HEFCE and
the Statement of Recommended Practice on accounting in HE
institutions and other relevant accounting standards including
FRS 102. In addition, within the terms and conditions of the
Memorandum of Assurance and Accountability with HEFCE, the
Board, through its designated accountable officer, is required to
prepare financial statements for each financial year which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the University and of
the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year.

■■

ensure that funds from HEFCE, the Skills Funding Agency (SFA)
and the Training and Development Agency for schools (TDA),
are used only for the purposes for which they have been given
and in accordance with the Memorandum of Assurance and
Accountability with HEFCE and the funding agreements with
the SFA and TDA, and any other conditions that the funding
councils or agency may from time to time prescribe

■■

ensure that there are appropriate financial and management
controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from other
sources

■■

safeguard the assets of the University and to prevent and detect
fraud

■■

secure the economical, efficient and effective management of
the University’s resources and expenditure.

In their role as charity trustees, the Governors have
responsibility for ensuring the maintenance and integrity of the
University website. The work carried out by the auditors does
not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the
auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have
occurred to the financial statements since they were initially
presented on the website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation of and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Disclosure of information to auditors
The members who held office at the date of approval of the
financial statements confirm that, so far as they are each aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the University’s
auditors are unaware; and each member has taken all the steps
that he or she ought to have taken to be aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the University’s auditors
are aware of that information.
Risk Management
The University’s strategic risk management process continues
to provide effective systems for the identification of the major
strategic and financial risks facing the University. During
2016/17 the University’s Executive Board and Board of
Governors monitored the four highest level strategic risks whilst
other risks continued to be managed as part of the established
management arrangements.
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The key financial risks which materialised in the year had been
identified in the financial risk and contingency workshops held
in May. No significant risks materialised that had not been
identified through the risk management process. The key
elements of the University’s approach during the year, designed
to discharge the responsibilities of the Board of Governors
were:
■■

■■

a review of the University’s approach and attitude to risk. This
included active participation from senior management and
the Board of Governors
two workshops to identify evaluate and categorise by
severity, risks which impacted on the achievement of
strategic objectives

■■

the production of an updated risk register

■■

the development of risk improvement plans to address
the highest categories of risk and the confirmation of the
delegation of responsibility to manage the less significant
risks

■■

regular monitoring by the Executive Board of the risk register
and of the implementation of improvement plans for the four
highest severity risks

■■

regular meetings of the Risk Management Working Group,
a small group of senior managers, chaired by the Registrar
and Chief Operating Officer, to review the output of the risk
management process and to consider improvements and
developments to the process itself and the development of
additional risk management procedures at an operational
level. The Group has no delegated authority itself but
provides an effective forum to allow the Registrar and
the Director of Finance and Legal Services to fulfil their
responsibilities

■■

regular reports both to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the development of the process, the most severe risks
and progress with improvement plans

Leslie Morphy
Chair of Governors
21 November 2017

■■

high level involvement and support which included the ViceChancellor taking an active part in one of the risk workshops
and chairing the Executive Board which considered the risk
register and improvement plans and other reports on key
aspects of the University’s performance. Several members
of the Senior Management Team, Executive Board and a
representative from the Audit Committee took an active part
in at least one of the various workshops

■■

that the Internal Audit team based their plan of work on the
University’s risk analysis, modified by their assessment. In
addition, the Internal Audit Team reviewed the University’s
system of risk management

■■

a workshop convened to specifically review the main risks
to the University’s financial plans, and to predetermine what
actions might be taken if certain events occurred

■■

a series of workshops to produce new risk registers and
improvement plans for each directorate.

Review of the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management
At its meeting in November 2017 the Board of Governors consider
the effectiveness of the arrangements for internal control and
risk management that have been in place for the financial year to
31 July 2017 and up to the date of signing the annual financial
statements. The Board of Governors came to a conclusion,
based upon the Annual Report of the Audit Committee and other
internal audit and management assurances, regarding whether the
arrangements in place were satisfactory to provide effective internal
control and risk management throughout this time. The conclusion
reached at the meeting was one of adequate assurance.
Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Board of Governors
has a reasonable expectation that the University has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Professor Alistair Fitt
Vice-Chancellor
21 November 2017
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Report on the audit of the
financial statements

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in
relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when:

Opinion
In our opinion, Oxford Brookes University’s Group financial
statements and parent institution financial statements (the
“financial statements”):

■■

the Board of Governor’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
not appropriate; or

■■

the Board of Governors has not disclosed in the financial
statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the group and parent institution’s
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the
date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

■■

give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of
the parent institution’s affairs as at 31 July 2017 and of the
Group’s income and expenditure, gains and losses, changes
in reserves and cash flows for the year then ended;

■■

have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and

■■

have been properly prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Statement of Recommended Practice
– Accounting for Further and Higher Education and the
2016/17 HEFCE Accounts Direction.

We have audited the financial statements, included within
the Strategic Report and Financial Statements  (the “Annual
Report”), which comprise the consolidated and university
Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2017; the consolidated and
university Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
for the year then ended; the consolidated and university
Statements of Changes in Reserves for the year then ended; the
consolidated Cash Flow statement for the year then ended; the
Accounting Policies; and the notes to the financial statements,
which include other explanatory information.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
Independence
We remained independent of the Group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be
predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group
and parent institution’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all of the information in
the Annual Report other than the financial statements and
our auditors’ report thereon. The Board of Governors is
responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of
assurance thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures
to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report based on these responsibilities.
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work
undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require us also
to report certain opinions and matters as described below.
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Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Other required reporting

Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for the financial
statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Corporate
Governance and Internal Control set out on pages 19 to 22,
the Board of Governors is responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view. The Board of Governors is also responsible for such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Opinions on other matters prescribed in the HEFCE Audit
Code of Practice issued under the Further and Higher
Education Act 1992
In our opinion, in all material respects:

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors
is responsible for assessing the Group and parent institution’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Board of Governors either
intends to liquidate the Group and parent institution or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the Board of Governors as a body in accordance with
the institution’s Articles of Government and section 124B of
the Education Reform Act 1988 as amended by section 71 of
the Further and Higher Education Act 1992, and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

■■

funds from whatever source administered by the institution
for specific purposes have been properly applied to those
purposes and, if relevant, managed in accordance with
relevant legislation;

■■

income has been applied in accordance with the institution’s  
articles of government; and

■■

funds provided by HEFCE have been applied in accordance
with the Memorandum of Assurance and Accountability, and
any other terms and conditions attached to them.

Other matters on which we are required to report by
exception
Under the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice issued under the
Further and Higher Education Act 1992 we are required to
report to you if, in our opinion the Statement of Corporate
Governance and Internal Control  is inconsistent with our
knowledge of the parent institution and Group. We have no
exceptions to report from this responsibility.

Alison Breadon (Senior Statutory Auditor) for and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cornwall Court
19 Cornwall Street
Birmingham
B3 2DT
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Financial Statements
Consolidated and University Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure for the year ended
31 July 2017

Note

Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

Income
Tuition fees and education contracts
Funding body grants
Research grants and contracts
Other income
Investment income
Donations and endowments

132,228
15,209
4,054
45,855
228
532

132,228
15,209
4,017
44,036
228
532

126,997
15,382
4,314
44,896
319
731

126,945
15,382
4,175
42,990
319
731

198,106

196,250

192,639

190,542

7
10
11,12
12
8

102,686
64,865
15,755
310
8,823

102,032
63,679
15,739
310
8,823

96,037
58,856
15,925
754
8,538

95,267
57,545
15,909
754
8,538

9

192,439

190,583

180,110

178,013

5,667

5,667

12,529

12,529

-

-

-

-

5,667

5,667

12,529

12,529

(1,319)

(1,319)

(36,694)

(36,694)

4,348

4,348

(24,165)

(24,165)

(105)
87
3,715
651
4,348
4,348

(105)
87
3,715
651
4,348
4,348

(15)
293
(25,590)
1,147
(24,165)
(24,165)

(15)
293
(25,590)
1,147
(24,165)
  -  
(24,165)

5,667

5,667

12,529

12,529

1
2
3
4
5
6

Total income
Expenditure
Staff costs
Other operating expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment and disposals
Interest and other finance costs
Total expenditure
Operating Surplus before tax
Taxation
Surplus for the year
Actuarial loss in respect of pension schemes
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
Represented by:
   Endowment comprehensive expense for the year
   Restricted comprehensive income for the year
   Unrestricted comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
   Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to the University
Attributable to the non-controlling interest

Surplus for the year attributable to:
   University

29

25

26
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Consolidated and University Statements of Changes in Reserves for the Year ended 31 July 2017

Consolidated

Balance at 1 August 2015

Income and expenditure account
Endowment
Restricted
Unrestricted
£’000  
£’000  
£’000  

Revaluation
reserve

Total

£’000  

£’000  

1,719

429

54,306

104,689

161,143

(Deficit)/surplus from the income and
expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Transfers between revaluation and income and
expenditure reserve
Release of restricted funds spent in year

(15)

293

(25,590)

-

(25,312)

-

-

1,147

(1,147)

-

-

-

-   

-   

-

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for
the year

(15)

293

(24,443)

(1,147)

(25,312)

1,704

722

29,863

103,542

135,831

(Deficit)/surplus from the income and
expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Transfers between revaluation and income and
expenditure reserve
Release of restricted funds spent in year

(105)

87

3,715

-

3,697

-

-

651

(651)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for
the year

(105)

87

4,366

(651)

3,697

1,599

809

34,229

102,891

139,528

Balance at 1 August 2016

Balance at 31 July 2017

University

Balance at 1 August 2015

Income and expenditure account
Endowment
Restricted
Unrestricted
£’000  
£’000  
£’000  

Total excluding
Non Controlling
Interest

Revaluation
reserve
£’000  

£’000  

1,719

429

54,213

104,689

161,050

(Deficit)/surplus from the income and
expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Transfers between revaluation and income and
expenditure reserve
Release of restricted funds spent in year

(15)

293

(25,590)

-

(25,312)

-

-

1,147

(1,147)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

(15)

293

(24,443)

(1,147)

(25,312)

1,704

722

29,770

103,542

135,738

(Deficit)/surplus from the income and
expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Transfers between revaluation and income and
expenditure reserve
Release of restricted funds spent in year

(105)

87

3,715

-

3,697

-

-

651

(651)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for
the year

(105)

87

4,366

(651)

3,697

1,599

809

34,136

102,891

139,435

Balance at 1 August 2016

Balance at 31 July 2017
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Consolidated and University Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2017

Note

As at 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

As at 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Fixed assets
Investments

11
12
14

1,664
410,302
104
412,070

1,664
409,762
554
411,980

2,306
383,732
115
386,153

2,306
383,176
565
386,047

Current assets
Stock
Assets held for sale
Trade and other receivables
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents

15
16
17
18
24

128
9,840
15,000
24,883
49,851

110
10,724
15,000
23,925
49,759

145
699
8,942
15,000
37,638
62,424

119
699
10,185
15,000
35,730
61,733

Less: Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year

19

(34,911)

(34,822)

(32,765)

(32,061)

14,940

14,937

29,659

29,672

427,010

426,917

415,812

415,719

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

20

(152,011)

(152,011)

(154,697)

(154,697)

Provisions
Pension provisions
Other provisions

21

(134,271)
(1,200)

(134,271)
(1,200)

(125,284)
-

(125,284)
-

139,528

139,435

135,831

135,738

1,599
809

1,599
809

1,704
722

1,704
722

34,229
102,891

34,136
102,891

29,863
103,542

29,770
103,542

139,528

139,435

135,831

135,738

139,528

139,435

135,831

135,738

Total net assets

Restricted Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve - endowment reserve
Income and expenditure reserve - restricted reserve
Unrestricted Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve - unrestricted
Revaluation reserve
Non-controlling interest
Total Reserves

22
23

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Governors on 21 November 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Leslie Morphy
Chair of Governors

Professor Alistair Fitt
Vice-Chancellor
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OXFORD BROOKES UNIVERSITY

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the Year ended 31 July 2017
Note

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year
Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangibles
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Loss on disposal of investment
Release revaluation reserve
Service concession lease premium
Decrease/(increase) in stock
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in creditors
Increase in pension provision
Increase in general provision
Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Investment income
Interest payable
Endowment income
Release capital grant
Net cash inflow from operating activities

12
11
14
13
15

21
21
5
8

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Capital grants receipts
Investment income
Payments made to acquire fixed assets
Payments made to acquire intangible assets
New deposits

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid
Interest element of finance lease and service concession payments
Endowment cash received
New unsecured loans
Repayments of amounts borrowed
Capital element of finance lease and service concession payments

13

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

24
24

Year ended
31 July 2017
£’000

Year ended
31 July 2016
£’000

5,667

12,529

14,429
1,326
310
11
(651)
(125)
17
(1,413)
587
7,668
1,200

14,677
1,248
754
-   
(1,147)
(125)
(6)
959
(3,653)
5,709
-   

(228)
5,754
(160)
(1,742)
32,650

(319)
5,514
(192)
(2,298)
33,650

1,074
1,412
257
(35,437)
(3,077)
-

4,299   
8,000
319
(19,336)
(1,750)
(15,000)

(35,771)

(23,468)

(5,614)
(144)
160
-

(5,205)
(141)
192
60,000

(1,214)
(2,822)
(9,634)

(47,180)
(2,773)
4,893

(12,755)

15,075

37,638
24,883

22,563
37,638

Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 31 July 2017

Basis of Preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP):
Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2015 and in
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards (FRS102). The
University is a public benefit entity and therefore has applied
the relevant public benefit requirement of FRS102. The financial
statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost
convention (modified by the revaluation of fixed assets and
derivative financial instruments).
The consolidated financial statements include the University
and all its subsidiaries for the financial year to 31 July 2017.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
period are included in the consolidated statement of income
and expenditure from the date of acquisition or up to the
date of disposal. Intra-group transactions are eliminated on
consolidation.
The consolidated financial statements do not include the
income and expenditure of the Students’ Union as the
University does not exert control or dominant influence over
policy decisions.
Associated companies and joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method.
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure when the goods or services are supplied to the
external customers or the terms of the contract have been
satisfied.
Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is not a
discount and credited to the Consolidated Statement of Income
and Expenditure over the period in which students are studying.
Where the amount of the tuition fee is reduced, by a discount
for prompt payment, income receivable is shown net of the
discount. Bursaries and scholarships are accounted for gross
as expenditure and not deducted from income.
Investment income is credited to the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure on a receivable basis.
Funds the University receives and disburses as paying agent
on behalf of a funding body are excluded from the income and
expenditure of the University where the University is exposed to
minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the
transaction.
Grant funding
Government revenue grants including funding council block grant
and research grants are recognised in income over the periods
in which the University recognises the related costs for which the
grant is intended to compensate. Where part of a government
grant is deferred it is recognised as deferred income within
creditors and allocated between creditors due within one year
and due after more than one year as appropriate.
Grants (including research grants) from non-government
sources are recognised in income when the University is entitled
to the income and performance related conditions have been
met. Income received in advance of performance related
conditions being met is recognised as deferred income within
creditors on the balance sheet and released to income as the
conditions are met.
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Donations and endowments
Non exchange transactions without performance related
conditions are donations and endowments. Donations and
endowments with donor imposed restrictions are recognised
in income when the University is entitled to the funds.  Income
is retained within the restricted reserve until such time that it is
utilised in line with such restrictions at which point the income is
released to general reserves through a reserve transfer.
Donations with no restrictions are recognised in income when
the University is entitled to the funds.
Investment income and appreciation of endowments is
recorded in income in the year in which it arises and as either
restricted or unrestricted income according to the terms or
other restriction applied to the individual endowment fund.
There are four main types of donations and endowments
identified within reserves:
1. Restricted donations – the donor has specified that the
donation must be used for a particular objective.
2. Unrestricted permanent endowments – the donor has specified
that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an
income stream for the general benefit of the University.
3. Restricted expendable endowments – the donor has
specified a particular objective other than the purchase or
construction of tangible fixed assets, and the University has
the power to use the capital
4. Restricted permanent endowments – the donor has specified
that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an
income stream to be applied to a particular objective.
Capital grants
Government capital grants are recognised in income over
the expected useful life of the asset. Other capital grants are
recognised in income when the University is entitled to the funds
subject to any performance related conditions being met.
Accounting for retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees of the University are provided
by defined benefit schemes that are funded by contributions
from the University and employees. Payments are made
to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS), the Universities’
Superannuation Scheme (USS) and the Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS) administered by Oxfordshire County
Council. These are all independently administered schemes.
Pension costs are assessed on the latest actuarial valuations
of the scheme and are accounted for on the basis of charging
the cost of providing pensions over the year during which the
University benefits from the employees’ services.
The TPS is a multi-employer pension scheme and the University
is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and
liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis.
The TPS is therefore treated as defined contribution schemes
and the contributions are recognised as they are paid each year.
The assets of the LGPS are measured using closing market
values. LGPS liabilities are measured using the projected unit
method and discounted at the current rate of return on high
quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the
liability. The increase in the present value of the liabilities of the
scheme expected to arise from the employee service in the
year is charged to staff costs and the interest on the liabilities
is charged to interest and other finance costs to the operating
surplus in The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure. Actuarial gains and losses are also
recognised in The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure.
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Defined Benefit Plan
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other
than defined contribution plans. Under defined benefit plans,
the University’s obligation  is to provide the agreed benefits to
current and former employees, and actuarial risk (that benefits
will cost more or less than expected)  and investment risk
(that returns on assets set aside to fund the benefits will differ
from expectations) are borne, in substance, by the  University.
The Group should recognise a liability for its obligations under
defined benefit plans net of plan assets. This net defined  benefit
liability is measured as the estimated amount of benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current
and  prior periods, discounted to determine its present value,
less the fair value (at bid price) of plan assets. The calculation is
performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. Where the calculation results in a net asset, recognition
of the asset is limited to the extent to which the University is
able to recover the surplus either through reduced contributions
in the future or through refunds from the plan.

All assets are regularly reviewed for indications of impairment.
Where there is impairment the difference between the assessed
recoverable value of the building and its written down cost is
charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure.

Employment benefits
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and
compensated absences are recognised as an expense in the
year in which the employees render service to the University.
Any unused benefits are accrued and measured as the
additional amount the University expects to pay as a result of
the unused entitlement.

No depreciation is charged on assets in the course of construction.

Service Concession Arrangements
Fixed assets held under service concession arrangements are
recognised on the Balance Sheet at the present value of the
minimum lease payments when the assets are bought into use
with a corresponding financial liability.
Payments under the service concession arrangement are
allocated between service costs, finance charges and financial
liability repayments to reduce the financial liability to nil over the
life of the arrangement.
Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straightline basis over the lease term. Any lease premiums or incentives
are spread over the minimum lease term.
Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective
functional currencies of Group entities at the foreign exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet
date are translated to the functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences
arising on translation are recognised in Surplus or Deficit.
Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses with the following exceptions:
1. Freehold land had been revalued to fair value on the date of
transition to the 2015 FE HE SORP. Going forward the land
is measured on the basis of deemed cost, being the revalued
amount at the date (31 July 2014) of the revaluation.
2. Freehold and leasehold properties vested in the University
under the Education Reform Act 1988, at valuation. The
valuation as at 1 April 1991 was carried out by an independent
firm of chartered surveyors and rating consultants on the basis
of depreciated replacement cost in the case of buildings,
except where a market value was more appropriate, and
current use market value in the case of land.
Where parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of fixed assets.

Land and buildings
Costs incurred in relation to land and buildings after initial
purchase or construction, and prior to valuation, are capitalised
to the extent that they increase the expected future benefits to
the University.
Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an
indefinite useful life. Freehold buildings are depreciated on a
straight line basis over their expected useful lives as follows:
Freehold buildings

10 to 50 years

Long Leasehold property

The lower of the length of the
lease, the life of the building,
or 50 years

Equipment
Equipment, including computers and software, costing less
than £10,000 is recognised as expenditure. All other equipment
is capitalised.
Capitalised equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over its
expected useful life as follows:
Equipment

3 to 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at the date of preparation of each Balance Sheet.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenditure in the period in
which they are incurred.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are amortised over 3-20 years representing
the remaining estimated economic life of the assets.
Investments
Non current asset investments are held on the Balance Sheet at
amortised cost less impairment.
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost in the University’s
Financial Statements.
Current asset investments are held at fair value with movements
recognised in the Surplus or Deficit.
Stock
Goods held for resale are included at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Library books and other consumable stocks
held by academic departments are excluded.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand
and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on demand if they are in
practice available within 24 hours without penalty.
Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:
(a) the University has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event;
(b) it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation; and
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(c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects risks specific to the liability.
A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives the
University a possible obligation whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the University. Contingent
liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would
otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow
of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured reliably.
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that
gives the University a possible asset whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the University.
Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the
Balance Sheet but are disclosed in the notes.
Taxation
The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of Part
3 of the Charities Act 2011, It is therefore a charity within the
meaning of Paragraph 1 of schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010.
Accordingly, the University is potentially exempt from taxation
in respect of income or capital gains received within categories
covered by section 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010
(CTA 2010) or section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains
Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied to
exclusively charitable purposes.
All subsidiary companies are liable to Corporation Tax and Value
Added Tax in the same way as any other commercial organisation.
The University’s principal activities are exempt from Value Added
Tax, but certain ancillary supplies and services are liable to Value
Added Tax at various rates. Expenditure includes irrecoverable
Value Added tax charged by suppliers to the University.
Reserves
Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. Restricted
endowment reserves include balances which, through
endowment to the University, are held as a permanently
restricted fund which the University must hold in perpetuity.
Other restricted reserves include balances where the donor has
designated a specific purpose and therefore the University is
restricted in the use of these funds.
Unrestricted reserves are balances where there is no restriction
on the use of funds.

Critical accounting judgements and
estimation uncertainty
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances

OXFORD BROOKES UNIVERSITY

Defined benefit pension schemes (note 29)
The University has obligations to pay pension benefits to certain
employees. The cost of these benefits and the present value
of the obligations depend on a number of factors, including life
expectancy, salary increases, asset valuations and the discount
rate on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors,
in liaison with the actuarial valuer, in determining the net pension
obligation in the balance sheet. The assumptions reflect
historical experience and current trends.
Service Concession (note 13)
The University has one service concession arrangement;
judgement has been used in the determining when the
infrastructure and related liability should be recognised. The
contract is until 2050, but Oxford Brookes is able to nominate
rooms yearly, with the option of nominating 0-100%, there is the
following clause in the agreement.
If Oxford Brookes University does not reserve 100% of the
750 rooms, then Oxford Brookes University cannot provide
accommodation for more than 46% of the student population in
each academic year, over the term of the contract.
The University has made the decision to include a one year
asset and associated liability rather than an asset and liability
over the life of the contract as it nominates rooms one year at
a time and could provide accommodation for the students via
third parties if necessary.
Revaluation of Land
In the 2015/2016 financial statements the University performed
a one off revaluation of its land on transition to FRS 102. The
District Valuation office carried out the revaluation on the basis
of Fair Value which is defined as:
The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, a liability
settled, or equity instrument granted, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arms length transaction.
The valuations were prepared on an appropriate basis in
accordance with the RICS valuation – Professional Standards
2014 and are suitable for financial statements purposes.
Where land is associated with a building the valuer has
apportioned the land on a basis of overall value of the property.
The valuer has described that the apportionment between land
value and buildings value should be 40%:60%. For campus
assets the valuer applied depreciated cost methodology.
For student residences assets, the valuer applied fair value
methodology by reference to market value.
Wheatley campus impairment
Under FRS102 an impairment review was undertaken to look for
indicators of impairment. An impairment loss occurs when the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The University identified that the planned relocation of the
activities currently at the Wheatley Campus and the subsequent
closure and sale of the Wheatley Campus is a possible indicator
of impairment as some of the assets at the site are being
depreciated over a longer period of time than their expected
useful economic life. The University concluded that it was
not necessary to impair any of the buildings at the Wheatley
Campus as the recoverable amount is higher that then carrying
amount. This will be reviewed annually and as any new
information becomes available.
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1

Tuition fees and education contracts
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

Full-time home and EU undergraduate students
Part-time home and EU undergraduate students
Full-time home and EU postgraduate students
Part-time home and EU postgraduate students
International students
Health Education England
Other course fees
Research student tuition fees
Support Grants

78,992
1,583
5,901
3,497
24,189
14,839
1,197
1,954
76
132,228

78,992
1,583
5,901
3,497
24,189
14,839
1,197
1,954
76
132,228

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
77,290
1,591
4,483
2,726
24,024
13,703
1,175
1,630
375
126,997

77,290
1,591
4,483
2,726
24,024
13,703
1,123
1,630
375
126,945

Full time undergraduate students charged home fees are shown net of fee waivers realting to the £9k fee package of £345k  
(2016: £1,456k)

2

Funding body grants

Recurrent grant
Higher Education Funding Council
Skills Funding Agency
National College for Teaching and Leadership
Specific grants
Higher Education Funding Council
Higher Education Innovation Fund
Release of Capital grant
Other

10,713
409
84

10,713
409
84

10,924
551
121

10,924
551
121

810
804
1,742
647
15,209

810
804
1,742
647
15,209

501
896
2,298
91
15,382

501
896
2,298
91
15,382

Notes to the financial statements
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Research grants and contracts
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

Research Councils
UK-based charities
UK Central Government, Local Authorities
UK Industry, commerce, Public Corporations
European Commission
EU other
Other overseas
Other sources

4

878
1,157
474
276
1,002
70
118
42
4,017

1,845
622
552
226
900
58
68
43
4,314

1,845
622
552
124
900
37
68
27
4,175

29,336
16,519

29,170
14,866

28,185
16,711

27,906
15,084

45,855

44,036

44,896

42,990

12
1
215
228

12
1
215
228

12
1
306
319

12
1
306
319

160
311
61
532

160
311
61
532

192
525
14
731

192
525
14
731

Investment income

Investment income on endowments
Investment income on restricted reserves
Other investment income

6

878
1,157
511
276
1,002
70
118
42
4,054

Other income

Residences, catering and conferences
Other income

5

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

Donations and endowments

New endowments
Donations with restrictions
Unrestricted donations
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Staff costs
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

Staff Costs :
  Salaries
  Social security costs
  Movement on USS provision
  Other pension costs
  Total

Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor:
  Salary
Professor Alistair Fitt
  Pension contributions to USS
Professor Alistair Fitt

£’000
77,589
7,939
(62)
17,220
102,686

£’000
76,937
7,938
(62)
17,219
102,032

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
£’000
75,239
6,418
(61)
14,441
96,037

Year ended
31 July 2017
£

Year ended
31 July 2016
£

233,300

233,300

4,899
238,199

233,300

£’000
74,297
6,470
(61)
14,561
95,267

Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions:

£100,000 to £109,999
£110,000 to £119,999
£120,000 to £129,999
£130,000 to £139,999
£140,000 to £149,999
£230,000 to £239,999

Average staff numbers by major category :
Teaching and research including management
Associate lecturers
Support

No.
3
1
6
1
1
12

No.
1
7
1
1
10

No.
879
855
1,629
3,363

No.
854
728
1,514
3,096

£107k compensation paid (2016: £0) for loss of office payable to senior post-holders:
Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the University. Staff costs includes compensation paid to key management personnel.
Key management personnel at Oxford Brookes University are members of the Senior Management Team, see details on
page 6.
Year ended
31 July 2017
£’000
Key management personnel compensation

1,547

Year ended
31 July 2016
£’000
1,269

Notes to the financial statements

OXFORD BROOKES UNIVERSITY

Related Party Transactions

The University Governors are the trustees for charitable law purposes. Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the
compositions of the Board of Governors, being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable that
transactions will take place  with organisations in which a Governor may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in
which a member of  The Board of Governors may have an interest, including those identified below, are conducted at arm’s length and
in accordance with the University’s Financial Regulations and usual procurement procedures.  
Professor Alistair Fitt
Vice-Chancellor of Oxford Brookes University:
Employed by Oxford Brookes University.
Brendan Casey
Registrar and Chief Operating Officer,
Senior Management Team
Trustee of Oxford Brookes Student Union.
During the year the Institution made awards of £1,047k to the
Students’ Union.
Purchase transactions of £78k during the year and no amount
outstanding at 31 July 2017.
Sales transactions of £649k during the year, no amount
outstanding at 31 July 2017.
Alyson Coates, Governor
Non-executive Director of Oxford Health NHS
Foundation Trust
Purchase transactions of £82k during the year, and no
amount outstanding at 31 July 2017.
Sales transactions of £53k (2016: £20k) with Oxford Health
NHS foundation Trust during the year and £17k were
outstanding at 31 July 2017.
Governor of Dr Challoner’s High School
There were no transactions with Dr Challoner’s High School
during the year.
Trustee of Nuffield Oxford Hospitals Fund
Sales transaction of £7k with Nuffield Oxford Hospitals Fund
during the year, all of which was outstanding at 31 July 2017.
There were no purchase transactions with Nuffield Oxford
Hospitals Fund during the year.
John Guy, Governor
Chairman of Surrey Heath Clinical Commissioning Group
There were no transactions during the year (2016: nil).
Member of the Education Honours Committee
There were no transactions during the year.
Louise Thomas, Governor
Director of Thomas Design Regeneration & Consultation Ltd
There were no transactions during the year.
Part-Time visiting lecturer at University of Westminster
Purchase transactions of £1k during the year, no amount
outstanding at 31 July 2017. (2016: nil)
There were no sales transactions during the year.
Urban Design Group, Co-Editor of quarterly journal
There were no transactions with Urban Design Group during
the year.
Trustee of the Francis Tibbalds Trust
There were no transactions with Francis Tibbalds Trust during
the year.
Robert Kirtland, Governor
Chairman of Critchleys Chartered Accountants
There were no transactions during the year (2016: nil).

Martin Howell, Independent Governor
Chairman of Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase transactions of £82k (2016: £53k) during the year,
and no amount were outstanding at 31 July 2017 (2016: £4k).
Sales transactions of £53k (2016: £20k) with Oxford Health
NHS foundation Trust during the year and £17k were
outstanding at 31 July 2017 (2016: nil).
Governor Oxford University NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase transactions of £363k (2016: £400k) during the year
of which £2k were outstanding at 31 July 2017 (2016: £18k).
Sales transactions of £35k (2016: £57k) during the year and
all were outstanding at 31 July 2017 (2016: £13k).
Trustee of the Oxford Health Charitable Funds
There were no transactions during the year.
Board Member of Thames Valley Crime stoppers
There were no transactions during the year.
Katherine Ryan, Governor
Head teacher Mathew Arnold School Oxford
Sales of £7k (2016: £3k) during the year, of which £2k were
outstanding at 31 July 2017 (2016: £1k).
There were no purchase transactions with Mathew Arnold
School Oxford during the year.
Chair of Oxford City Learning
There were no transactions with Oxford City Learning during
the year.
Leslie Morphy, Governor
Non-Executive director at Home Group
Purchase transactions of £0.4k during the year, no amount
outstanding at 31 July 2017.
There were no sales transactions during the year (2016: nil)
Non-Executive Director at Surrey and Borders Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust
There were no transactions during the year.
Chair of Pathway (A small charity for homeless people)
There were no transactions during the year.
Susan Howdle, Co-opted Member
Managing Trustee for Roundhay Methodist Church
There were no transactions with Roundhay Methodist Church
during the year.
Chair of the Westminster College Oxford Trust Ltd
The lease for the Harcourt Hill Campus was renewed on 26
July 2017, with effect from 1 August 2017. A lease premium
of £3,750k was paid on 26 July 2017.
There were £4k Sales during the year and no amount
outstanding at 31 July 2017.
Swindon UTC Ltd
Oxford Brookes University holds 50% of the voting rights
in Swindon UTC Ltd, but does not receive any economic
benefit. There was a purchase transaction of £0.3k with no
outstanding amount and there were no sales transactions
during the year.
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Interest and other finance costs
Notes

Loan interest
Finance lease interest (including service concession finance charge)
Net charge on pension scheme

9

13
29

Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

5,610
144
3,069
8,823

5,610
144
3,069
8,823

5,373
141
3,024
8,538

5,373
141
3,024
8,538

79,880
60,729
20,418
23,100
6,266
2,046
192,439

79,564
60,424
20,377
22,974
5,302
1,942
190,583

75,680
53,477
18,278
22,142
8,387
2,146
180,110

75,703
51,926
17,919
21,987
8,377
2,101
178,013

10,329
4,143
404
3,103
2,398
3,540
1,496
6,634
9,167
172
609
602
1,091
4,275
3,025
1,047
76
111
427
7,369
4,847
64,865

10,297
4,111
404
3,099
2,345
3,436
1,526
6,059
9,167
172
521
602
1,075
4,263
2,934
1,047
74
111
427
7,369
4,640
63,679

8,509
3,257
612
2,935
2,044
3,502
1,619
5,768
8,691
929
681
447
1,057
3,497
2,814
1,000
73
7
136
471
7,075
3,732
58,856

8,494
3,197
612
2,932
1,982
3,378
1,650
5,597
8,691
308
630
447
1,044
3,486
2,617
1,000
69
7
136
471
7,075
3,722
57,542

Analysis of total expenditure by activity

Academic and related expenditure
Administration and central services
Premises (including service concession cost)
Residences, catering and conferences
Research grants and contracts
Other expenses

10 Other operating expenses
Premises related:
Maintenance
Rent
Books, publications and periodicals
Information technology related equipment; supplies and consumables
Other equipment supplies and consumables
Food and catering supplies and services
Stationery, photocopying and printing
Temporary staff, professional services and consultants
Other hired and contracted services
Examiners' fees
Communications and marketing
Placements, teaching practice and educational visits
Conferences, training and tuition fees
Subscriptions and copyright fees
Transport and travel related
Student Union grant
External auditors' remuneration in respect of audit services
External auditors' remuneration in respect of other services
Internal auditors' remuneration
Insurance
Bursaries, scholarships and other financial support to student
Other costs

Notes to the financial statements
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11 Intangible assets: Software
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
Cost or valuation
At 1 August 2016
Transfers
Additions in the year
Disposals
At 31 July 2017

5,876
629
335
(412)
6,428

5,835
629
335
(412)
6,387

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 August 2016
Charge for the year
Disposals
At 31 July 2017

3,570
1,326
(132)
4,764

3,529
1,326
(132)
4,723

Net book value
At 31 July 2017

1,664

1,664

2,306

2,306

At 31 July 2016

The addition during the year relates to the purchase of a software intangible assets. The amortisation period is between 3-20 years.

37

38

OXFORD BROOKES UNIVERSITY

Notes to the financial statements

12 Fixed assets
Consolidated

Cost or valuation
At 1 August 2016
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
At 31 July 2017
Consisting of valuation as at:
31 July 2014
Cost
Depreciation
At 1 August 2016
Charge for the year
Disposals
At 31 July 2017
Net book value
At 31 July 2017
At 31 July 2016

Freehold
Land and
Buildings
£’000

Leasehold
Land and
Buildings
£’000

413,470
89
(231)
(1,575)
411,753

40,738
4,086
4,060
(3,218)
45,666

78,676
333,077
411,753

Service
concession
arrangement
Land and
Buildings
(Note 13)
£’000

Fixtures,
Fittings and
Equipment
£’000

Assets in the
Course of
Construction
£’000

Total
£’000

(2,822)
2,927

26,952
1,903
363
(380)
28,838

14,574
33,037
(4,821)
(172)
42,618

498,556
42,042
(629)
(8,167)
531,802

45,666
45,666

2,927
2,927

28,838
28,838

42,618
42,618

78,676
453,125
531,802

77,942
7,582
(1,337)
84,187

16,339
1,368
(3,218)
14,489

0
2,822
(2,822)
-

20,543
2,657
(376)
22,824

-

114,824
14,429
(7,753)
121,500

327,566
335,528

31,177
24,399

2,927
2,822

6,014
6,409

42,618
14,574

410,302
383,732

412,652
89
(231)
(1,575)
410,935

40,738
4,086
4,060
(3,218)
45,666

2,822
2,927
0
(2,822)
2,927

26,538
1,903
363
(342)
28,462

14,574
33,037
(4,821)
(172)
42,618

497,324
42,042
(629)
(8,129)
530,608

78,676
332,259
410,935

45,666
45,666

2,927
2,927

28,462
28,462

42,618
42,618

78,676
451,932
530,608

2,822
2,927

University
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2016
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
At 31 July 2017
Consisting of valuation as at:
31 July 2014
Cost
Depreciation
At 1 August 2016
Charge for the year
Disposals
At 31 July 2017
Net book value
At 31 July 2017

77,680
7,566
(1,337)
83,909

16,339
1,368
(3,218)
14,489

2,822
(2,822)
-

20,129
2,657
(338)
22,448

-

114,148
14,413
(7,715)
120,846

327,026

31,177

2,927

6,014

42,618

409,762

At 31 July 2016

334,972

24,399

2,822

6,409

14,574

383,176

At 31 July 2017, freehold land and buildings included £108,823k (2016 £108,823k) in respect of freehold land and is not depreciated.
It is the University’s policy not to capitalise loan interest.
Leased assets included above:
Net Book Value:
At 31 July 2016
24,399
2,822
300
4,060
At 31 July 2017
31,177
2,927
150
Consolidated fixtures, fittings and equipment include assets held under finance leases as follows:
Year Ended
Year Ended
2017
2016
£’000
£’000
Cost
600
600
Accumulated depreciation
(300)
(150)
Charge for year
(150)
(150)
Net book value
150
300

31,581
34,254
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12 Fixed assets continued

13 Service Concession Arrangements

Revaluations

The University has one on Balance Sheet arrangement where
service delivery has commenced.

1. As a result of the Education Reform Act 1988, freehold and
leasehold properties occupied by the University together with
the equipment contained therein were vested in the University
with effect from 1 April 1989. A professional valuation was
carried out in 1991 on the inherited buildings. The valuation,
which was at 1 April 1991, was on the basis of depreciated
replacement costs in the case of buildings except where a
market value was more appropriate and current use market
value in the case of land. The total valuation amounted to
£64,380k.
2. On transition to the FE HE SORP in the 2015/2016 financial
statements the University has performed a one-off revaluation
of its freehold land to fair value as at 31 July 2014. This
revaluation increased the value of the land by a net £73,565k
(revaluation of £79,034k less impairment of £5,469k) from
£33,119k to £106,684k.
The following land areas were revalued.
£’000
Student accommodation
Headington, Gipsy Lane site

38,586
7,215

Wheatley campus

27,764

Total

73,565

In 2001 the University entered into a 32 year contract with a third
party provider for the provision and maintenance of Cheney Hall of
residence, providing accommodation to 750 students. On 31 July
2009 the lease was extended by 17 years to 31 July 2050.
The University received a lease premium of £5.2m, which is
amortised over the remaining life of the lease.
The University nominates the number of rooms it requires on a
yearly basis, it has the option to reserve all or none of the rooms.
The assets and liabilities relating to one year of this scheme are
therefore recognised on the University’s Balance Sheet.
Movement in Service concession arrangement assets
The asset value of the service concession included in the Balance
Sheet as at 31 July 2017 is £2,927k (2016: £2,822k). The sum of
£2,822k was depreciated during the year.
Movement in Service concession arrangement liabilities
The total liabilities relating to the service concession included in the
Balance Sheet as at 31 July 2017 were £2,927k (2016: £2,822k).
The sum of £2,822k was repaid during the year.
Future commitments
The following table analyses the University’s future commitments in
relation to service concession arrangements.
Payable in 1 year
£’000

Depreciation and amortisation
£’000
Intangible assets (software)
accumulated amortisation
charge for the year

1,248

Fixed assets accumulated
depreciation charge for the year

14,677

Total depreciation and
amortisation

15,925

Liability repayments

2,927

Finance Charge

154

Service Charge

1,415

Total

4,496

Lease Premium
The value of the remaining unamortised these premium in long
term liabilities as at 31 July 2017 was £4,125k (2016: £4,250k).
£125k was released in the year to 31 July 2017 (2016: £125k).
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14 Non-Current Investments
Subsidiary
companies
£’000

Other fixed
assets
investments
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 August 2016
Impairment of investment in Wild Knowledge

-

115
(11)

115
(11)

At 31 July 2017

-

104

104

£’000

£’000

£’000

At 1 August 2016
Impairment of investment in Wild Knowledge

450
-

115
(11)

565
(11)

At 31 July 2017

450

104

554

Consolidated

University

Other non-current investments consist of :

Consolidated
and University

Oxford Expression Technologies
CVCP Properties plc

70
34
104

15 Stock
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
Goods held for resale

128
128

110
110

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
145
145

119
119

16 Assets held for sale
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
-

-

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
699
699

699
699

The Ferndale site in Swindon was held for sale as at 31 July 2016, it was sold in March 2017 for proceeds of £1,100k.
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17 Trade and other receivables
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Research grants receivables
Other trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income
Amounts due from subsidiary companies

452
4,052
2,196
3,140
9,840

434
3,650
2,152
3,129
1,359
10,724

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
992
2,381
2,184
3,385
8,942

959
2,073
2,160
3,377
1,616
10,185

18 Current investments
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
Short term deposits

15,000
15,000

15,000
15,000

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
15,000
15,000

15,000
15,000

Deposits are held with banks and building societies operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Services Authority
with more than three months maturity at the balance sheet date. The interest rates for these deposits are fixed for the duration of
the deposit at time of placement.
At 31 July 2017 the weighted average interest rate of these fixed rate deposits was 1.1% per annum and the remaining weighted
average period for which the interest rate is fixed on these deposits was 275 days.  The fair value of these deposits was not
materially different from the book value.

19 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
Unsecured loans
Obligations under finance leases
Service concession arrangements (note 13)
Trade payables
Social security and other taxation payable
Accruals and deferred income
Other creditors

1,500
150
2,927
1,877
2,145
21,568
4,744
34,911

1,500
150
2,927
1,844
2,188
21,489
4,724
34,822

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
1,224
150
2,822
1,460
2,333
21,331
3,445
32,765

1,224
150
2,822
1,396
2,359
20,682
3,429
32,061
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20 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Year ended 31 July 2017
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000
Deferred income
Lease premium
Obligations under finance lease
Unsecured loans

Analysis of unsecured loans:
Due within one year or on demand (Note 19)
Due between one and two years
Due between two and five years
Due in five years or more
Due after more than one year
Total unsecured loans

Year ended 31 July 2016
Consolidated
University
£’000
£’000

21,268
4,000
126,743
152,011

21,268
4,000
126,743
152,011

22,189
4,125
150
128,233
154,697

22,189
4,125
150
128,233
154,697

1,500
3,056
4,946
117,241
126,743
128,243

1,500
3,056
4,946
117,241
126,743
128,243

1,224
2,923
4,784
120,526
128,233
129,457

1,224
2,923
4,784
120,526
128,233
129,457

The University’s long-term loans are currently held with Barclays, Lloyds, Santander and private placements with Babson, PRICOA and
Allianz. The University also has a revolving credit facility for £25,000k, this was undrawn at the 31 July 2017.
The loans are unsecured, of the bank loans outstanding £6,000k is fixed at a rate of 4.99%, £6.100k is fixed at 5.40%, £6,100k is fixed at
5.34%, £6,100k at 5.23%, £12,000k is fixed at 5.34%, £6,300k is an RPI inflation linked loan, £9,000k is fixed at 3.99%, £11,000k is fixed
at 4.06% and £12,500k is fixed at 5.02%.  
The private placements outstanding, £10,000k is fixed at 3.53% for 15 years, £15,000k is fixed at 3.76% for 20 years, £25,000k is fixed at
3.91% for 25 years and £10,000k is fixed at 3.94% for 30 years.

21 Pension provisions

Consolidated

At 1 August 2016
Utilised in year
Additions in 2016/17
At 31 July 2017

University

At 1 August 2016
Utilised in year
Additions in 2016/17
At 31 July 2017

Obligation to
fund deficit
on USS
Pension
£’000

Pension
scheme
provision
under FRS102
(note 29b)
£’000

Total
Pensions
Provisions
£’000

HEFCE
Provision
£’000

Total
Other
£’000

1,290
(38)
1,252

123,994
9,025
133,019

125,284
(38)
9,025
134,271

1,200
1,200

1,200
1,200

Obligation to
fund deficit
on USS
Pension
£’000

Pension
scheme
provision
under FRS102
(note 29b)
£’000

Total
Pensions
Provisions
£’000

HEFCE
Provision
£’000

Total
Other
£’000

1,290
(38)
1,252

123,994
9,025
133,019

125,284
(38)
9,025
134,271

1,200
1,200

1,200
1,200

USS deficit
The obligation to fund the past deficit on the University’s’ Superannuation Scheme (USS) arises from the contractual obligation with the
pension scheme for total payments relating to benefits arising from past performance. Management have assessed future employees
within the USS scheme and salary payment over the period of the contracted obligation in assessing the value of this provision.
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22 Endowment Reserves
Restricted net assets relating to endowments are as follows:
Expendable endowments
2017
2016
Total
Total
£’000
£’000
Balance at 1 August 2016

1,704

1,719

New endowments
Investment income
Expenditure

160
7
(272)

192
12
(219)

Total endowment comprehensive income for the year

(105)

(15)

1,599

1,704

1,599
1,599

1,704
1,704

Donations
2017
Total
£’000

2016
Total
£’000

At 31 July 2017
Analysis by asset
Cash & cash equivalents

23 Restricted Reserves
Reserves with restrictions are as follows:

Balances at 1 August 2016
New donations
Investment income
Expenditure

722

429

312
(225)

525
1
(232)

87

294

809

722

Total restricted comprehensive income for the year
At 31 July 2017

24 Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents

At 1 August 2016
£’000
37,638
37,638

Cash Flows
£’000
(12,755)
(12,755)

At 31 July 2017
£’000
24,883
24,883
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25 Capital and other commitments
Provision has not been made for the following capital commitments at 31 July 2017:
2017
Consolidated
£’000
4,013
33,593

Authorised and contracted
Authorised but not contracted

University
£’000
4,013
33,593

37,606

2016
Consolidated
£’000
30,344
5,676

University
£’000
30,344
5,676

37,606

36,020

36,020

2017
Plant and
Machinery
Other leases
£’000
£’000

Total
£’000

2016
£’000

26 Lease obligations
Total rentals payable under operating leases:
Land and
Buildings
£’000
Payable during the year
Future minimum lease payments due:
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total lease payments due

3,204

-

3,830

7,034

6,585

800
1,857
11,657
14,314

-

3,892
5,768
9,660

4,692
7,625
11,657
23,974

6,124
11,611
11,800
29,535

27 Subsidiary undertakings
The subsidiary companies (all of which are registered in England & Wales), wholly-owned or effectively controlled by the University, are as follows:
Company

Principal Activity

Status

Note

Oxford Brookes Enterprises Ltd

Consultancy and Management of conference and related
commercial facilities

100% owned

16

Oxford Brookes Services Ltd

Dormant

100% owned

28 Connected charitable Institutions
The University has no connected charitable institutions.
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29 Pension Schemes
Different categories of staff were eligible to join one of three
different schemes:
■■

Teachers’ Pension Scheme England and Wales (TPS), for
academic and related staff

■■

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), for nonteaching staff

■■

Universities’ Superannuation Scheme (USS), for staff who are
already in the USS scheme when they join Oxford Brookes
University

All schemes are defined-benefit schemes, the assets of which
are held in separate trustee administered funds.

TPS: contributions paid
LGPS:
– contributions paid
– FRS102 Charge
USS
– contributions paid
– FRS102

Year Ended
31 July 17
£’000

Year Ended
31 July 16
£’000

4,864

4,659

6,820
4,664

6,531
2,602

843
(62)
17,129

715
(61)
14,446

29a Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS)
A formal actuarial review of the TPS is undertaken by the
Government Actuary not less than every four years. Contributions
are paid by the University at the rate specified. The scheme is
unfunded and contributions are made to the Exchequer. The
payments from the scheme are made from funds voted by
Parliament. As from 1st January 2007, and as part of the cost
sharing agreement, the contribution rate was assessed at 20.5%
which translates to an employee contribution of 6.4% and an
employer contribution of 14.1% payable.
Following the latest actuarial valuation that was carried out as at
31 March 2012, the valuation results specify the rate of employer
contribution payable for the four year period from 1st April
2015 and the employer cost cap, both of which are to be set in
regulations. The employer contribution rate payable from April
2015 has been set at 16.4% of pensionable pay, with an average
employee contribution rate of 9.6%, giving a total contribution
rate of 26%. Following agreement between the Department for
Education and HM Treasury, the employer contribution rate was
implemented on 1 September 2015. The employer contribution
rate is based on the implementation period specified in the
Directions and has not been adjusted for later implementation. In
isolation, this will result in a small deficit at the next valuation.
The employer contribution rate is expected to be reassessed at
the actuarial valuation to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 (and
each subsequent four yearly valuation). The next revision to the
employer contribution rate is expected to take effect from 1 April
2019. The financial position relative to the employer cost cap will
also be reconsidered at each four yearly valuation.
Under the definitions set out in Section 28 of FRS 102, the TPS

is a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme, the assets
of which are held separately from those of the University in
independently administered funds. As the University is unable
to identify its share of the assets and liabilities of the group
scheme, it accounts for contributions as if they were to a defined
contribution pension scheme. Contributions are charged to the
statement of consolidated income in the year to which they
relate. The University has set out below the information available
on the deficit in the scheme and the implications for the University
in terms of anticipated contribution rates.
The assumptions and other data that have the most significant
effect on the determination of the contribution levels are as follows:
Latest Actuarial Valuation
Gross rate of return
Real rate of return

31 March 2014
5.06%
3.00%

Long term salary growth

4.75% pa, 2.75% pa in excess of
assumed CPI

Aggregated scheme assets
Aggregated scheme liabilities

£176.6bn
(£191.5bn)

During the year all employers paid 14.1%
the same contribution rate
During the year all employee’s’
between 6.4% and 12.4%
contribution varied dependent on members full
time equivalent salary

The value of pension payments made in year to the Teachers’
Pension Scheme was £4,864k (2016: £4,659k).
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29b Local Government Pension Scheme
(Retirement Benefits) Disclosure for the accounting year ending 31 July 2017
Local Government Pension Scheme
Non-academic employees of the University can participate in
the LGPS, a defined benefit scheme, with the assets held in
separate trustee-administered funds.
The last formal triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was
performed as at 31 March 2016 by a professionally qualified
actuary.
During the accounting period, the University paid contributions
to the pension scheme at the rate of 14.1% of pensionable
salaries, plus a yearly deficiency charge of £1,631k from 1 April
2016 and £1,733k from 1 April 2017.
The employee rate was between 5.5 and 7.5% of pensionable
salaries.
The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation
of the fund at 31 March 2013 updated to 31 July 2016 by a
qualified independent actuary.
Assumptions
The financial assumptions used to calculate scheme liabilities
under FRS102 are:

Price Inflation (RPI)
Price Inflation (CPI)
Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase of pensions in
payment for LGPS members
Discount rate

At 31 July
2017
%pa
3.6
2.7
3.9
2.7

At 31 July
2016
%pa
3.0
2.1
3.3
2.1

2.7

2.5

The most significant non-financial assumption is the assumed
level of longevity. The table below shows the life expectancy
assumptions used in the accounting assessments based on the
life expectancy of male and female members at age 65.
Pensioner Non-pensioner Pensioner Non-pensioner
Male Male (currently
Female
Female
aged 45)
(currently aged
45)
At 31 July 2016
At 31 July 2017

23.3
23.4

25.6
25.6

25.8
25.5

28.1
27.8
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29b Local Government Pension Scheme continued
Scheme assets and expected rate of return for LGPS
For accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2015, the expected return and the interest cost have been replaced with a single net
interest cost, which effectively sets the expected return equal to the discount rate.
The assets in the scheme were:

Equities
Gilts
Other bonds
Property
Cash
LLPs
Hedge funds
Diversified growth fund
Alternative assets
Total

31 July 17
£’000
141,570
34,149
11,086
14,920
8,840
7,455
-   
11,262
219
229,501

Expected return
Total return on fund assets

31 July 17
% pa
2.7
32,068

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for LGPS:
Scheme assets
Scheme liabilities
Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability
recorded within pension provisions (Note 21)
Current service cost
Past service costs
Total operating charge:

Fair value as at
31 July 16
£’000
123,702
25,014
6,942
14,097
6,535
6,635
-   
8,029
-   
190,954

31 July 15
£’000
115,852
21,535
6,057
12,061
5,589
6,147
5
8,072
-   
175,318

31 July 16
% pa
2.5
13,280

31 July 15
% pa
3.8
16,010

Year Ended
31 July 17
£’000

Year Ended
31 July 16
£’000

229,501
(362,520)
(133,019)

190,954
(314,948)
(123,994)

11,660
-   
11,660

9,047
283
9,330

Analysis of the amount charged to interest payable/credited to other finance income for LGPS
Interest cost
7,848
Expected return on assets
(4,835)
Net charge to other finance income
3,013
29
Administration expenses
Total profit and loss charge before deduction for tax
14,702

9,686
(6,709)
2,977
145
12,452

Cumulative actuarial loss recognised as other comprehensive income for LGPS

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised at the start of the year
Cumulative actuarial losses recognised at the end of the year

At 31 July
2017
£’000
123,905
132,931

At 31 July
2016
£’000
81,492
123,905
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29b Local Government Pension Scheme continued
Analysis of movement in the present value of LGPS liabilities

Present value of LGPS liabilities at the start of the year
Current service cost (net of member contributions)
Past service cost
Interest cost
Actual member contributions (including notional contributions)
Actuarial loss/(gain)
Change in demographic assumptions
Actual benefit payments
Experience (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation
Present value of LGPS liabilities at the end of the year

Year to
31 July 17
£’000

Year to
31 July 16
£’000

314,948
11,660
-   
7,848
2,694
28,795
(228)
(4,756)
1,559
362,520

256,894
9,047
283
9,686
2,532
43,266
-   
(6,759)
(1)
314,948

Year to
31 July 17
£’000

Year to
31 July 16
£’000

190,954
27,233
4,835
1,574
(29)
6,996
2,694
(4,756)
229,501

175,318
6,571
6,709
(145)
6,728
2,532
(6,759)
190,954

Analysis of movement in the fair value of scheme assets

Fair value of assets at the start of the year
Return on assets less interest
Interest on assets
Other acturial gains
Administration expenses
Actual contributions paid by University
Actual member contributions (including notional contributions)
Actual benefit payments
Fair value of scheme assets at the end of the year

LGPS assets do not include any of the University’s own financial instruments, or any property
occupied by the University.

Remeasurements in other comprehensive income

Return on fund assets in excess of interest
Other actuarial gains on assets
Change in financial assumptions
Change in demographic assumptions
Experience gain on defined benefit obligation
Remeasurement of the defined liability

Year to
31 July 17
£’000

Year to
31 July 16
£’000

27,233
1,574
(28,795)
228
(1,559)
(1,319)

6,571
(43,266)
1
(36,694)
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29c The Universities Superannuation Scheme
The institution participates in the Universities Superannuation
Scheme. Throughout the current and preceding years, the
scheme was a defined benefit only pension scheme until 31
March 2016 which was contracted out of the State Second
Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate
trustee-administered fund. Because of the mutual nature of the
scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual
institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The
institution is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with
other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of
the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent

and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by Section 28
of FRS102 “Employee benefits”, accounts for the scheme as if
it were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount
charged to the income and expenditure account represents the
contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the accounting
period. Since the institution has entered into an agreement (the
Recovery Plan that determines how each employer within the
scheme will fund the overall deficit), the institution recognises a
liability for the contributions payable that arise from the agreement
to the extent that they relate to the deficit and the resulting
expense in the Statement of consolidated Income.

Pension costs
The total cost charged to the Statement of Consolidated Income is £743k (2016: £701k), which is made up of the following entries:

Employer contributions paid
Interest Payable – Unwinding of discount
Element of employer contributions allocated against the deficit
Difference between actual contributions and past expectations
Total amount charged to Statement of Comprehensive Income

2017
£’000
781
24
(94)
32
743

2016
£’000
716
46
(61)
-   
701

Brought Forward Pension Provision
Movement
Cash payments made to USS
Carried forward Pension Provision (Note 21)

1,290
56
(94)
1,252

1,305
46
(61)
1,290

The latest available full actuarial valuation of the scheme was at
31st March 2014 (“the valuation date”), which was carried out
using the projected unit method. Since the institution cannot
identify its share of scheme assets and liabilities, the following
disclosures reflect those relevant for the scheme as a whole.
The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the
scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pensions
Act 2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding

objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to
cover their technical provisions. At the valuation date, the value
of the assets of the scheme was £41.6billion and the value of
the scheme’s technical provisions was £46.9billion indicating
a shortfall of £5.3billion. The assets therefore were sufficient to
cover 89% of the benefits which had accrued to members after
allowing for expected future increases in earnings.

Defined liability numbers for the scheme have been produced using the following assumptions:
Discount rate
Pension increases (CPI)

2017
2.57%
2.41%

2016
3.6%
2.2%

The main demographic assumption used relates to the mortality assumptions.
Mortality in retirement is assumed to be in line with the Continuous Mortality Investigation’s (CMI) S1NA tables as follows:
Male members’ mortality

98% of S1NA tables – No age rating

Female members’ mortality

99% of S1NA tables – rated down 1 year

Use of these mortality tables reasonably reflects the actual USS experience.
To allow for further improvements in mortality rates the CMI 2014 projections with a 1.5% pa long term rate were also adopted.
The current life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:
Males currently aged 65 (years)
Females currently aged 65 (years)
Males currently aged 45 (years)
Females currently aged 45 (years)
Scheme assets
Total scheme liabilities
FRS102 total scheme deficit
FRS102 total funding level

2017
24.4
26.6
26.5
29

2016
24.3
26.5
26.4
28.8

£60.0bn
£77.5bn
£17.5bn
77%

£49.8bn
£58.3bn
£8.5bn
85%
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